

Dissertation Submission

LEARNER NUMBER	51694271	
NAME	Sara Nunez Nettle	
COURSE	Final Dissertation	
DISSERTATION TOPIC	A Journalist Investigation into the perception and internal conflicts caused by the Climate Change's movements and the right to protest: An autoethnographic study.	
SUPERVISOR	Sharon Morrissey	
WORD COUNT	17,261	
DUE DATE	02 November 2020	

I certify that:

•	This dissertation is a	ıll my own work,	and no part of this dissertation has been copied from
	another source:	Yes X	No □
•	I consent to having	my dissertation	be retained in the library for the purpose of future
	research.	Yes X	No □

[Note that if no check boxes are selected, this dissertation will be regarded as NOT properly submitted, and may be subject to a late submission penalty]

Signature: Sara Nunez Nettle **Date:** 01 November 2020

A Journalist Investigation into the perception and internal conflicts caused by the Climate Change's movements and the right to protest:

An autoethnographic study.

A Journalist Investigation into the perception and internal conflicts caused by the Climate Change's movements and the right to protest:

An autoethnographic study.

by

SARA NUNEZ NETTLE

A dissertation presented to the

FACULTY OF LAW INDEPENDENT COLLEGE DUBLIN

MA in Dispute Resolution

Declaration

Student Number: 51694271

Student Name: Sara Nunez Nettle

Assignment Title: Final Dissertation

Due Date: 02 November 2020

Date of Submission: 01 November 2020

Requested Word Length: 15,000 minimum/20,000 maximum

Actual Word Length (excluding list of references): 17,261

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY STATEMENT

I, Sara Nunez Nettle, certify that this assignment is my own work and is free from plagiarism. I

understand that the assignment may be checked for plagiarism by electronic or other means and may

be transferred and stored in a database for the purposes of data-matching to help detect plagiarism.

The assignment has not previously been submitted for assessment in any other module or to any other

institution.

Date: 01 November 2020

i

Table of Contents

Acknowledgments	iii
Abstract	iv
Introduction	1
CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW	4
1.1 Autoethnography	4
1.2 Protest and the Right to Protest	5
1.2.1 Ireland and Europe	9
1.2.2 Chile and Latin America	11
1.3 Extinction Rebellion	14
1.4 Disruptive Protests and Social Perception	18
1.5 Inner Conflict	21
1.6 Negotiation	22
1.7 Conclusion	24
CHAPTER 2: METHODOLOGY	26
2.1 Research Methodology	26
2.2 Research Context	26
2.3 Research Method and Design	28
CHAPTER 3: PRESENTATION OF DATA	29
3.1 The Dilemma	29
3.2 Limitations	37
CHAPTER 4 DATA ANALYSIS	39
4.1 Introduction	39
4.2 Data Analysis	39
CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION	47
5.1 Extinction Rebellion and Climate Change	47
5.2 Human rights	48
5.3 Social Perception	50
Conclusion	
Reflection	
Bibliography	57

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my partner and best friend, Kyle, for his constant patience and support, and for listening to all my complaints and insecurities. I am truly grateful for having this beautiful human being in my life, that believes in my abilities and is always there when I need it. I would have never made it through this Masters and dissertation process without his encouragement and unconditional love.

I would like to thank some of my teachers and my thesis supervisor, Sharon, who guided me to follow this investigation method, a challenge that I found completely stimulating in both an intellectual and emotional way.

I would like to thank my family, that with absolute care, supported me and all my endeavours from a distance, comforting me and giving me strength to continue. I also would like to thank those who left us, but are eternally remembered, for having faith in me. I hope I make them proud.

Abstract

In this dissertation I aim to analyse the impact of climate change protests in Western Societies and the Internal Conflict arising from public displays or disruptions in the modern world. Display of displeasure, it is understood that all outdoor expressions of protest are intended to demand certain considerations related to social life. In the case of disruption, it has been defined as an alteration or breakdown of the community (Ulrich 2016), created to prevent the "normal function of a system or process" (Cambridge English Dictionary).

An internal Conflict has been described, by psychological and sociological studies, as a battle or a "struggle inside oneself when facing a dilemma that involves a moral or ethical decision" (McCallister 2019). The fight between what is considered right and wrong is presented in all of us when choosing one action above the other, and this internal turmoil can escalate to a highly complex issue, causing adverse effects on our quality of life.

The necessity of people having the ability to demonstrate their thoughts and to express objection or disapproval towards a political idea, is seen every day in a variety of contexts. One example of this is the case of Extinction Rebellion, an environmental movement that has been publicly voicing their discontent with disruptive actions. The group considers a series of demands described in chapter 1, that include a governmental declaration of ecological emergency and generating environmental strategies to halt biodiversity loss. These demonstrations attempt to influence government policies and public opinion, regarding the negative impact of climate change.

My study offers an autoethnographic vision into the conflict that arises within ourselves and reflects on our sense of belonging to a group or culture. Moreover, the internal crises that we suffer as individuals and citizens when defending our rights and common wellbeing.

Introduction

My research study focuses on the perceptions and internal conflicts caused by climate change movements, as well as the right to protest that citizens have in Western Societies. This subject represents everything that is not said when discussing social issues, since I propose to reflect on my own personal ideas when facing cultural disruption.

By profession, I have a deep interest in the positive and negative impact of media coverage on society and how this may affect each of us in a different manner. Furthermore, I am aware of the human need of self-expression and the idealistic belief that we can be part of a cultural, political and social change. This belief is the reason we follow, and occasionally join, different movements and causes, and what makes us fight for better conditions of life.

Yet, this idealistic thinking may be affected by the actions of others from within a movement. Civil disobedience seems to be the key to generating political change around the world. One of the definitions of this concept describes it as a public, non-violent and conscientious social strategy, aiming to the "change in law or government policies" (Brownlee 2017). This tactic involves aspects such as "publicity, communication and fidelity to law, representing a non-violent resistance" (Brownlee 2017).

However, this insubordination often goes further than mere non-violent pressures to governments and industries. The demonstrations may increase and turn into violent extremist resistance, with riots, revolts and even lootings in some countries.

Climate change

For the purpose of this research, I believe it is necessary to explain the concept of climate change, according to the definition of the National Centre for Atmospheric Science (NCAS 2019):

Climate change can be described as an identifiable change in the climate that persists for an extended period. Can vary naturally in response to variations in the Sun's radiation, the Earth's orbit around the sun, or the composition

of the atmosphere due to volcanic eruptions. However, in the early 1900s, climate started changing due to a persistent increase in the amount of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere (...). Humans have altered the chemical composition of the global atmosphere with substantial implications, which is known as man-made climate change. Climate change affects the environment, natural resources, economy and other aspects of life in all nations of the world.

In 2018, a group in the United Kingdom took notice of this problem and established Extinction Rebellion (abbreviated as XR), a global environmental movement that aims to use "nonviolent civil disobedience to compel government action to avoid tipping points in the climate system, biodiversity loss and the risk of social and ecological collapse" (Extinction Rebellion).

However, the group has been criticised for not being rooted in working-class organisations and not involving all aspects that contribute to environmentalism, qualifying it as "accommodated people who would not have much to lose going to the streets" (Nandy 2019). It has also been accused for not exposing links between climate change and inequality (Gayle 2019), along with being called an extremist organisation that misunderstands the main point of the threat and loses respect for the lives and routines of others (Wilson & Watson 2019).

Taking into account this case, with this research I aim to contribute to, and become aware of social issues and their impact on our internal ideas as social individuals. Therefore, I am developing an autoethnographic and self-reflective study to present the notion of self-awareness and the process of dealing with inner stress and negative feelings (LaFrance & Peter 2015), caused by external disruptions that affect our personal wellbeing.

The main purpose of my study is to recognise and analyse this confrontation and the actions that may impact our future participation in social movements. The objectives related to the research are as follows:

- Analyse the cultural perception of climate change protests and disruptions
- Analyse the internal conflicts that arise when confronting different protests or public expressions
- Analyse the impact of our social backgrounds in an individual ability to express our thoughts in a public manner (public protests and disruptions)
- Promote awareness and notion of social issue

As some of the limitations of this study, the autoethnographic approach does not mean to grant a definitive answer to the research question. Nonetheless, it proposes an alternative qualitative analysis of the construction of reality and a profound discussion of the relevance of self-consciousness. Additionally, my research develops an introspective process revealing personally lived experiences described by memory, including an examination of the struggle within the self and the cultural and social relationships related to this conflict.

A self-observational approach allows an internal evaluation of emotions and personal needs, leading to the application of principled negotiation as an alternative dispute resolution. This finding answers to the necessity of handling the conflict with the self in a positive and effective manner, considering all the elements presented.

CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW

In this investigation, I will provide an analysis of different aspects and concepts involved in social movements, as well as the factors that may cause internal conflicts within ourselves. First of all, I have chosen to explain the term Autoethnography and the importance of carrying out my study under this self-reflective method.

Following this, I will be looking at the concept of protest and the right to protest, along with the declaration of Human Rights adopted by the United Nations. For the purpose of this study, I present the case of Extinction Rebellion as the main social movement affecting my ideas surrounding climate change and public demonstrations.

Additionally, I will analyse the effects of disruptive demonstrations and the general perception of the public, explaining in more detail the idea of perception and its limitations. Lastly, I will examine the internal conflicts that arise within ourselves caused by these social movements.

1.1 Autoethnography

Autoethnography is a qualitative method that emerged in postmodern philosophy and gives voice to personal experience to obtain sociological understanding (Wall 2008). This approach seeks to describe and analyse these experiences to create social and cultural meaning (Ellis, Adams & Bochner 2011).

An autoethnography represents an alternative to established research methods, considering the study as a "political, socially-just and socially-conscious act" (Ellis, Adams & Bochner 2011). When writing an autoethnography, the researcher uses autobiography and ethnography; therefore, autoethnography is "process and product" (Ellis, Adams & Bochner 2011).

This method requires a self-reflective approach when writing about a specific subject. This exercise enables us to learn more about our nature and human essence, and to create sense of our personal experiences. Introspection will be the key to appreciating and growing from our experiences, and expanding our understanding. Besides, it will be useful to predict outcomes and solve problems effectively (Yocco 2018).

This exploration connects our autobiographical story with others in a social and cultural context, building a consistent bond between them. In that respect, "the others refer to the human beings differently regarded by the self. Some are seen in similarity, others as of difference and others as opposition" (Chang 2008).

Nonetheless, it is important to emphasise that beyond writing a personal story, we need to include additional elements, such as "commenting and critique of culture and cultural practices, making contributions, embracing vulnerability with purpose, and creating a reciprocal relationship with the audiences in order to compel a response" (Ellis, Holman Jones & Adams 2013). In this case, the aim must be to describe a cultural experience, offering insights to manage difficult situations.

An autoethnography provides a new technique to analyse the individual and social behaviours, articulating a research that intends to answer questions that are difficult to address with conventional methods. This qualitative approach "offers reflection and an intentional directedness towards others, either through a vision that may help those who relate to a person's experience, or in the desire of others to bear witness to particular struggles" (Ellis, Holman Jones & Adams 2013).

1.2 Protest and the Right to Protest

According to the Cambridge English Dictionary, protest can be described as a "strong complaint in which it is expressed disagreement, disapproval or opposition to something". This terminology refers to individual or collective expressions that develop strong views related to values and interests, finally reacting or answering to these issues (Free Word Centre 2016). This type of demonstration occurs when alienated groups or a suffering sector of society pushes for change in economic, political and social matters. A political protest can include strikes, boycotts and marches. Contrarily, a cultural

demonstration contains expressions linked with music, literature, dances, art and language (Banks 2003).

For the British arts organization Free Word Centre, who focuses on the right to speak and be heard in society, a protest may include the following:

- Individual or collective actions, along with spontaneous or simultaneous protest, including the use of digital technologies.
- ii. Individual or collective expression related to any cause or issue.
- iii. Actions targeting any audience, including public authorities, private entities or the general public.
- iv. Demonstrations that annoy or offend people who have opposite ideas and who claim that these expressions obstruct or hinders activities of third parties.
- v. Actions in any location, public or private places, as well as online platforms.
- vi. Actions involving different degrees and methods of organising.

In 2009, the Stanford University published the project 'Dynamics of Collective Action', which considers a list of protest forms such as: rallies / demonstrations, marches, vigils, civil disobedience, ceremonies, dramaturgical demonstrations, information distribution, symbolic displays, attacks, riots, mob violence, strikes and boycott.

Additionally, protest actions can be divided into six wide categories, through which collective movements seek to communicate their message to society (Ratliff & Hall 2014). This typology includes:

- Literal, symbolic, sensory and aesthetics, which involves musical/dramaturgical performances, speeches,
 exchange of information and the destruction of symbolic objects often with political value.
- ii. Solemn and sacred, that refers to quiet vigils, prayers or forms of religious service, belief or ideology.
- iii. Institutional and conventional, which is dependent on political processes and social institutions, such as lawsuits, press conferences.
- iv. Movement in space. This type refers to marches or parades including movement from one location to another with a specific place for the beginning and ending.

- v. Civil disobedience, which includes sit-ins, blockades, occupations, bannering, among others. These actions break law directly or technically and are given more attention by society and governments. Yet, civil disobedience can also involve violence and confrontational actions, must be separated in a different category due to its planning and control.
- vi. Collective violence and threats. It refers to actions such as pushing, throwing objects, damaging property, and physical and verbal violence and threats. Usually, can be a response to extreme force by authorities.

Right to Protest

The right to protest is directly related to international human rights and its aim is to secure the execution of human liberties, as freedom of expression and assembly. Proclaimed by the United Nations General Assembly in 1948, as a result of the experience of the Second World War, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR), pursued to established a common standard of fundamental and inalienable human rights to be protected internationally.

This framework of rights represents the basic of freedoms and protections that every single person has around the world. Human rights embody national, regional and international legislation based on "the principles of dignity, equality and mutual respect, regarding age, nationality, gender, race, belief and personal orientations" (Amnesty International 2017).

Following these considerations, the Declaration of Human Rights settled three articles related to political rights and the right to protest:

Art. XVIII: Everyone has the right to freedom of thought, conscience and religion; this right includes freedom to change his religion or belief, and freedom, either alone or in community with others and in public or private, to manifest his religion or belief in teaching, practice, worship and observance.

Art. XIX: Everyone has the right to freedom of opinion and expression; this right includes freedom to hold opinions without interference and to seek, receive and impart information and ideas through any media and regardless of frontiers.

Art. XX: 1. Everyone has the right to freedom of peaceful assembly and association.

2. No one may be compelled to belong to an association.

The United Nations created a series of obligations for governments and state officials to "abide certain standards in the treatment of individual human beings and respect, protect and fulfil the rights of those within their jurisdiction or abroad" (Amnesty International 2017).

As part of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR), adopted by the General Assembly in 1966 and enforced in 1976, stated that "the ideal of free human beings enjoying civil and political freedom can only be achieved if conditions are created where everyone enjoys civil, political, economic, social and cultural rights". This covenant declares the responsibility of the individuals as social beings and adds the following specifications to the Human Rights articles shared above:

Art. XIX: 1. Everyone shall have the right to hold opinions without interference.

- 2. Everyone shall have the right to freedom of expression; including to seek, receive and impart information and ideas of all kinds, either orally, in writing or in print, in the form of art, or through any other media of his choice.
- 3. The exercise of the rights carries with its special duties and responsibilities. It may therefore be subject to certain restrictions, but these shall only be such as are provided by law and are necessary: for respect of the rights or reputations of others, for the protection of national security or of public order (order public), or of public health or morals.

Art. XX: 1. Any propaganda for war shall be prohibited by law.

2. Any advocacy of national, racial or religious hatred that constitutes incitement to discrimination, hostility or violence shall be prohibited by law.

Art. XXI: The right of peaceful assembly shall be recognised. No restrictions may be placed on the exercise of this right other than those imposed by law and necessary in a democratic society. This measure shall protect the interests of national security, public safety order, the protection of public health or morals, or the protection of the rights and freedoms of others.

Despite the right to hold opinions without interference, and emphasising on public order and safety, societies and governments have implemented new restrictions to the rights involved in public manifestations, allowing them under detailed situations (Free Word Centre 2016). Grounded in these restrictions, protests are seen as a threat to stability and national security. These actions sometimes may lead to misunderstanding of civil rights, widespread violence and violation of physical integrity and personal liberties (IACHR 2009).

Nonetheless, throughout human history protests have been the key for social and political change and the improvement of policies and civil rights. Through public demonstrations, citizens reinforce democracy and enable direct participation in social issues, exposing the reality of a nation and demanding rectification. This is extremely useful to certain groups in society who feel marginalised or discriminated (Free Word Centre 2016).

1.2.1 Ireland and Europe

The Irish Constitution, ratified in 1937, represents the fundamental law of the State and recognises the human rights of individuals living in the country, aiming to protect its citizens. However, these rights can be limited or restricted by the Oireachtas (legislature of Ireland) in specific circumstances, seeking the common good and public order (Citizens Information 2020).

Article 40 of the Irish Constitution considers the following fundamental rights:

- i. Freedom of Expression: citizens have the right to freely express convictions and opinions (Article 40.6.1.i). However, the State should try to make sure that the radio, the press and the cinema, while preserving their rightful liberty of expression, including criticism of Government policy, shall not be used to undermine public order or morality or the authority of the State.
- ii. Freedom of Assembly: citizens have the right to assemble or meet peacefully and without weapons (Article 40.6.1.ii). This right is limited by legislation to protect public order and morality. By law, any meeting designed to cause a riot or breach the peace will be prevented and/or controlled. You may not

hold a procession or meeting within half a mile of the Houses of the Oireachtas, when it has been prohibited by the Gardaí or you have been asked to disperse.

iii. Freedom of Association: the constitution guarantees the right of association and unions (Article 40.6.1.iii). You may form any association for whatever purpose, whether it is sporting, social, charitable, commercial or political. This right is restricted by the legislation to protect public order and morality. Associations formed for the purpose of treason or some anti-constitutional or illegal purpose cannot rely on this right to freedom of association.

As a member of the Council of Europe, Ireland passed the European Convention of Human Rights Act 2003 (ECHR) and made it part of its domestic law, conferring it legal power. However, the ECHR only applies in cases where it is necessary to execute European Union Law, such as, legislation to transfer an EU Directive, European arrest warrant implementation, benefits applied to a person in status of EU worker, and in situations where freedom of movement is involved. If an EU law is violated and affects fundamental rights, the matter could be sent to the European Commission and referred to the Court of Justice of the European Union (Citizens Information 2020).

The European Convention of Human Rights also implemented the Charter of Fundamental Rights, declared in 2000 and enforceable since 2009. This document accepts civil, political, economic and social liberties for all EU citizens. These rights were hitherto presented in EU Treaties, the European Convention on Human Rights, Case Law of the Court of Justice of the European Union and national constitutions of European countries (Citizens Information 2020).

The Commission of Human Rights in Ireland and Northern Ireland considered the creation of a "Charter of Rights for the island of Ireland", as a result the Belfast Agreement (Good Friday). Hence, the governments expressed their desire to respect human rights protections in both jurisdictions, and work on the process of developing better conditions for peace (IHRC 2011).

In the case of United Kingdom, a large part of the European Convention of Human Rights has been incorporated into its domestic laws by the Human Right Act 1998. The right to peacefully protest is

protected under the ECHR, even though the State can restrict this freedom in order to maintain public safety.

The Public Order Act 1986 establishes a framework that provides rights to the police to react and prohibit demonstrations, on the ground of national security or public safety; prevention of crime or disorder, and the protection of the rights and freedoms of others. The government recognises criminal offences perpetrated by the protestors, such as "aggravated trespass" or "obstruction of a highway". Other civil measures, such as the Protection from Harassment Act 1997 allows individuals to prevent members of protests from behaving in a way that could cause harm or harassment. (Brown 2020).

The Council of Europe ratifies that under the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, every EU citizen has the right to meet with other people and make "their collective voice heard" in order to live and preserve an effective democracy. Based on the foundation of justice and peace, the European Council aims to achieve "unity between its members and the maintenance and realisation of Human Rights" (Council of Europe).

The European Convention of Human Rights and the Case Law of Strasbourg Court pursued the practice of these liberties across the entire continent, requiring the support of governments of European countries to develop suitable laws and procedures (Council of Europe).

1.2.2 Chile and Latin America

After the proclamation of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the Latin American States made the commitment to protect human rights and personal liberties within the continent. However, throughout the 60's and 70's, military rule expanded through countries such as Brazil, Bolivia and Chile, becoming authoritarian governance and causing a long list of violations of human rights and social breakdowns in the following years (Cleary 1997).

In 1973, Chile fell under a military rule, during which individual liberties were restrained, until the country returned to democracy in 1990. This episode was triggered following the election of Salvador

Allende, where a group composed of the commanders of the Army, Navy, Air Force and the National Police took over the government, imposing extreme measures to control the population.

The Chilean Constitution was approved in 1980 under the military dictatorship of Augusto Pinochet, amended nine years later and completely effective since 1990. In 2005, the constitution saw new changes that included: reducing the presidential term from 6 to 4 years, reducing military influence over politics, and giving power to the president to dismiss commanders in chief of the armed forces and national police, among others (IDEA 2016).

The Chilean Constitution considers the following points regarding human rights in the country:

Art. XIII: Citizens have the right to meet without previous notice and without weapons. Reunions in parks, streets and public places will be ruled by the general dispositions of the police.

Art. XIV: Citizens have the right to present requests to the authority about any public or private matter, without any limitation, but acting respectfully and in convenient terms.

Art. XV: Citizens can associate without previous notice. Yet, associations that work contrary to moral, state security and public order will be prohibited.

Since the return to democracy, Chile has faced a vast array of challenges to improve the political system and leave behind 17 years of military governance. In 2013, the president Michelle Bachelet assured the people that the Constitution would be replaced, however, it remained largely unchanged, causing a mass movement of over 100,000 people from approximately 40 civil organisations to take part in the "Protest of All Protests", calling for constitutional changes (IDEA 2016).

Subsequently, in 2019 a large part of the country decided to rise up against inequality, justice and the respect of human rights such as health, education and social security. These protests commenced in response to the increase of fares on public transport, setting up a national revolution that took place for the rest of the year and into the beginning of 2020.

Nonetheless, these last manifestations that aimed at building a new constitution, as in previous years, were the target of repression by state forces as a way to "protect the infrastructure and private property from being damaged or vandalised" (Amnesty International 2020). As a result, the Congress accepted an agreement that involves the creation of a new national constitution, in the coming years.

Latin American commissioners

Following an agreement signed in 2009, the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights for South America established its quarters in Santiago, covering issues from Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Chile, Ecuador, Paraguay, Peru, Uruguay and Venezuela.

The Regional Office aims to "improve the promotion and protection of human rights, according to international standards" (OHCHR 2020). It also cooperates with governments, judiciary system, human rights institutions and defenders, civil society organisations and the United Nations. According to its website, the Office Commissioner based its work on the subsequent objectives:

- i. Fighting impunity and strengthening accountability and the rule of law.
- ii. Integrating human rights in development and in the economic sphere.
- iii. Enhancing equality and counter discrimination.
- iv. Early warning and protect human rights in situations of conflicts, violence and insecurity.
- v. Strengthening the effectiveness of international human rights mechanisms and the development on international human law.
- vi. Widening democratic space.

Furthermore, the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights created in 1959, seeks to protect human rights in the American hemisphere. Its main duties are centred on the individual petition system, the human rights situation within the State members and the attention to the fundamental rights of the individual (IACHR 2006).

This commission is part of the Organisation of American States (OAS) and it began after the approval of the American Declaration of the Rights and Duties of Man, at the Ninth

International Conference of American States, held in Colombia. Subsequently, a charter was implemented stating the following:

The true significance of American solidarity and good neighbourliness can only mean the consolidation on this continent, within the framework of democratic institutions, of a system of individual liberty and social justice based on respect for the essential rights of man (IACHR 2006).

Additionally, the Inter-American Court of Human Rights established in 1979, is the tribunal in charge of the defence of human and personal rights on the continent. Working together with the European Court of Human Rights and the African Court on Human and Peoples' Rights, enables citizens to receive legal protection and the resolution of cases where human rights have been violated.

1.3 Extinction Rebellion

The environmental challenge that we face currently as a society, represents a massive threat to life as we know it. The effects of climate change have been visible across different areas of the planet, causing scientists, governments and the industry sector to minimise consequences and prevent biodiversity loss and mass extinction. In that respect, social movements and activists reacted in response to the global lack of action in regards to this subject, demanding a worldwide declaration of a climate and ecological emergency, and new environmentally friendly policies.

The group at the forefront of these demands was Extinction Rebellion (XR), a worldwide environmental movement that uses an hourglass symbol (representing the extinction on Earth) and describes its practices as non-violent civil disobedience.

Established in May 2018 in the United Kingdom, the movement started with only fifteen people seeking to achieve a "radical, social change" (Knights 2019). Through talks around the UK, they presented the necessity of mass civil disobedience and began to shape the rebellion movement.

In October the same year, they declared a rebellion against the UK government (Knights 2019), and rallied in Parliament Square in London to proclaim a "Declaration of Rebellion" (Extinction Rebellion). On the Extinction Rebellion website, the movement mentions three main demands:

- i. Government must tell the truth about climate change emergency.
- ii. Governments must act now to halt biodiversity loss and reduce greenhouse gas emissions to net zero
 by 2025.
- iii. Governments must create, and be led by the decisions of a Citizen's Assembly on climate and ecological justice.

Along with these demands, Extinction Rebellion activists state the following values and principles:

- i. Vision of change. Creating a world that is fit for the next 7 generations to live in.
- ii. Mission set on what is necessary. Mobilising 3.5% of the population to achieve system change such as "momentum-driven organising".
- iii. Regenerative culture. Creating a culture which is healthy, resilient and adaptable.
- iv. Challenge to ourselves and the toxic system. Leaving our comfort zones to take action for change.
- Reflecting and learning. Following a cycle of action, reflection, learning, and planning for more action.
 Learning from other movements and contexts as well as our own experiences.
- vi. Everyone and every part of everyone is welcome. Working actively to create safer and more accessible spaces.
- vii. Mitigating for power. Breaking down hierarchies of power for more equitable participation.
- viii. Avoiding blaming and shaming. We live in a toxic system, but no one individual is to blame.
- ix. Non violent network. Using nonviolent strategy and tactics as the most effective way to bring about change.
- x. Based on autonomy and decentralisation. We collectively create the structures we need to challenge power (Extinction Rebellion).

During April 2019, Extinction Rebellion occupied central locations across London. Alongside actions including, marches in Heathrow Airport, teenagers glueing themselves to the entrances of the London Stock Exchange and activists climbing on to a Docklands Light Railway train. These demonstrations

aimed to cause economic disruption and ended with the arrest of more than 1,100 people (Knights 2018).

Later that year, protestors continued blocking streets in different cities throughout the UK, along with manifestations at the London Fashion Week, and marches dressed in funeral clothing carrying banners with the message "Stop funding climate death". Furthermore, activists sprayed fake blood at the front of the Treasury in Westminster from the top of a fire engine (Busby 2019), and flights were delayed after a group climbed to the top of a British aircraft.

Globally, Extinction Rebellion has over 485 affiliates across the globe and their plan focuses on the creation of disruption across more than 60 cities (Iqbal 2019). Thus, the movement established "campaign groups with coordinators working in the US, Canada, Australia, Switzerland, France, Germany, Netherlands, Belgium, Sweden, Italy and Spain" (Farand 2018). Further demonstrations followed during 2019 in different parts of the world with government buildings, airports and financial districts designated as targets.

The movement has been criticised by its tactics and have been called out as "environmental fanatics" (Welsh 2019) who are ruining the lives of citizens and risks alienating potential supporters (BBC 07 October 2019). Moreover, they have been accused of being "bored, white elites in search of meaning and purpose for their lives", along with people who are looking for "something to complain about" (Murray 2019). From other activists' views, the movement should commit to the way of communicating the climate crisis, which needs to be "rooted in peoples lived experiences" to engage working-class citizens (BBC 2020).

As many environmentally active working-class communities mention, the problem is in the "environmental classism", and the lack of understanding and support from mainstream environmental policy makers, activists and academics. These communities state, "to build the

broad-based support necessary for a radical transition to sustainability, we must recognise and build on all strands of environmentalism, especially that of the working class" (Bell 2019).

Other activists recognise the need to have their own campaigns, fighting for the climate crisis, as they have been discouraged by negative experiences when engaging with Extinction Rebellion and other well-known environmental organisations. Alongside this, the absence of networks in the media sector pull their environmental battle away from the public eye, "contributing to the illusion that environmentalism is the domain of middle-class people" (Bell 2019).

For the critics, Extinction Rebellion should practice an approach that enables it to explain how climate change is affecting everyone and "even more those who have fewer economic choices", providing "ownership of the process that is going to affect them too" (Lo Dico 2019). Even some participants of the movement argue that its methods dismiss big businesses, oil companies and governments as main target, directing its actions towards the interruption of public transport, ceasing the function of small markets and businesses and, therefore, affecting ordinary people, who, under alternative circumstances, could potentially support the cause and voice it.

In an intent to appeal to these communities, Roger Hallam, one of the founders of Extinction Rebellion, stated the necessity of "immigration controls, the end of the globalisation mantra, and discussions in terms of tradition, nation and honour - things that socialists in the 20th Century talked about, but have become taboo to the Left".

Some fellow activists have taken this statement as a political turn of the movement. It also asks for people to travel less and local economies to serve immediate needs, implying that the cause of the environmental threat is in external factors, such as immigration and the behaviours of other countries (Lo Dico 2019). In that respect, they maintain that the movement ignores and silences issues related to climate crisis injustices that affect marginalised communities, proclaiming "ideas of middle-class white people in rich countries of the global north" (Garavito & Thanki 2019).

Additionally, this political approach settled by Extinction Rebellion is criticised as representing a legitimisation of racism, xenophobia and classism by "white old climate activists" (Garavito & Thanki 2019), and moving in the wrong direction as "communities overwhelmingly poor, black or brown, that belong to the global south, are the least responsible for causing the climate change crisis and usually the most vulnerable to its effects" (Garavito & Thanki 2019).

Seeking to limit the power of the State and the police, Extinction Rebellion developed the strategy of mass arrests, as "police stations do not have the capacity the hold hundreds of people arrested and courts will discourage officers from pursuing cases" (Hensby 2019). Nonetheless, a great number of citizens with different social or race conditions are not willing to be part of the protest, as they are afraid of the risk if they are arrested (BBC 2020).

For many, a more inclusive approach would take into account "people of colour, differently-abled and working-class people's voices, as the protestors urge everyone to get arrested, not understanding why others might not wish to subject themselves to institutionally racist policing and prison systems" (Singh 2019). This discussion considers the involvement of these groups of society in Extinction Rebellion actions, as a way to generate change inside the movement, to accomplish its goals in an effective manner. As, if these voices remain unheard, "the movement will continue to be overshadowed by the very things it seeks to disrupt: big politics and pointless talking points" (Singh 2019).

1.4 Disruptive Protests and Social Perception

For decades, protests have been a worldwide platform for demanding change and respect for human rights, including a better-quality life. Through public manifestations, people show their discontent, usually provoking disruption across cities and countries, to finally be heard. These disruptive actions are motivated by ideological beliefs, as well as the political and social context.

Encouraged by the protection of public interest, and the involvement in the decision-making process of a country, protestors try to have an impact on their current reality. Thus, they adopt strategies that will empower the movement and make it efficient. Alongside these strategies, civil disobedience and violence are social expressions often used to affect the political and social system. However, disruptive protests are not always designed to maintain the support of public opinion and can lead to diverse reactions.

Some studies classify disruptive tactics as any act that intends to cause economic loss or property damage. It also includes the obstruction of normal functions of society, that usually rests on working classes, and may have characteristics of violent or non-violent claims. These tactics can be effective to reach the common goal; yet, they could also "destabilise the legitimacy of a movement" (Wang & Piazza 2016).

Protests are often representative of disruption and civil disobedience, which runs the risk of losing followers. However, to achieve the purpose, scholars recognise the need to fight against the established - and often oppressive – order, justifying some non-violent acts of social insubordination. When desperation arises, protestors speak out to fix what they feel is broken. People that are being forgotten, silenced, and marginalised by governments and society, join social movements seeking disruption in order to create a transformation; as individuals may be ignored, whereas collective marching groups would not (Kaoma 2020).

In this context, disruptive strategies are associated with the success of social movements. Protests that include violence, such as riots and looting, put pressure on elite groups and governments, who are being forced to take account of the complaints. Additionally, tactics such as hunger strikes and sitins, create a sense of urgency for change, and may also "build emotional attachment between movement members and society" (O' Donnell 2020).

Moreover, the social movement organisation tries to ensure media coverage and publicity of their issue, as mass media represents the space of expression and the bridge between their ideas and public opinion. Without mass media there is no discussion, and without discussion there is no change. Disruptive protests ensure this coverage, following the necessity of broadcasting dramatic and sensational novelty by the media corporations. As a result, activists develop extremist behaviours to obtain attention and therefore, to engage the commitment of other citizens that may feel represented by their ideologies (Feinberg, Willer & Kovacheff 2017).

Nonetheless, this representation not always leads to support of the cause. The "activist's dilemma" (Feinberg, Willer & Kovacheff 2017) analyses the conflict between raising awareness of the social issue and executing a disruptive strategy that may affect positive change. Media coverage tends to show the events with no analytical accounts. Lack of complexity in the communication treatments arouse misunderstanding and "simplistic analogies" (Carothers & Youngs 2015), that influence opinion and the perception of society.

For a better understanding, the concept of perception can be described as the information that humans gather and perceive from their environment. Therefore, social perception can be explained as the way a person feels and comprehends individual and social groups, including impressions and interpretation of actions and behaviours (Aronson, Wilson & Akert 2010).

Through social perception comes the construction of social reality (Jussim 1991), and it is possible to make inferences about others based on their physical appearance, and verbal and nonverbal patterns of communication (Aronson, Wilson & Akert 2010). Social perception enables people to make judgements and learn about their surroundings, as well as to be conscious of their social motivations. According to what is understood of the social environment, and the level of representation presented, disruptive protests can be deemed more or less effective.

Public demonstrations are usually founded in anger against injustice, high-status members of society, or the sustenance of violation of rights (Van Stekelenburg 2013). Hence, some groups react, leading to normative action, however, when all channels are closed, they occasionally pivot towards a strategy of "nothing to lose", evolving into non-normative manifestations, challenging authority (Kamans, Otten & Gordijn 2011).

Some studies mention the concept of "perception of competition", to explain the reaction of high socio-economic people that develop restrictive measures (Olzak & Koopmans 2004) against protestors and minorities. Therefore, they build hostility, feeling their identity threatened by these mobilisations, rather than considering them to be a legitimate channel to express social demands. As a result, there is a tight struggle between political members and the authorities, and citizens (Van Stekelenburg 2013).

1.5 Inner Conflict

Inner or internal conflict has been described as a struggle inside oneself when facing different and contradictory thoughts surrounding a subject that involves "moral or ethical decisions" (McCallister 2019). Inner conflict is presented when we choose a specific action above another, or take part in one side or the other in a personal and social level (McCallister 2019).

This conflict can be shaped by people's culture, race, gender, and even social class, affecting habits and preferences, as well as the sense of quality of life. Thus, life experiences determine the predisposition to interpret reality in a particular manner, and the risks that could arise in this process (Kashtan 2015).

Inner conflict represents a development of a group of issues caused by the battle of opposing values, interests, inclinations, points of view and frustration of personal needs (Novgorodtseva 2006). In some way, human beings seek social relation; therefore, "self-conflict is intrinsically related to the social environment" (Gilbert & Bailey 2000).

Psychologists divide the inner conflict subject into three main directions: self-image, self-estimation, and self-attitude (Novgorodtseva 2006), these areas denote a clash that could be decisive in subsequent external behaviours.

If the inner self does not present opposition against ideas, there is no major conflict. The resistance between emotion and obligation, is the clear indication of inner conflict (Kashtan 2015). Personal and social obligations, as well as ethics, regulate people's views of human nature, affecting personal beliefs and rejecting self-interest in order to achieve sociable results (Kashtan 2015).

Internal conflict and self-dialogue can exist in meaningful and insignificant actions of everyday life. The complexity and contradictions of this issue imply internal and external relationships, as the individual responds to "stimuli that are born from connections with significant others" (Hermans 2010).

As a way to find a strategy for dealing with inner conflict, scholars explain that, working to acquire a greater understanding of the self, and listening to personal needs behind the dichotomy, may be preferable; rather than the method of submit or rebel against emotions and social obligations (Kashtan 2015).

1.6 Negotiation

Negotiation is a process that humans implement daily, in situations such as work or business deals, and also when persuading family members or friends to choose between one option over another. According to Fisher and Ury (1981), anybody can be a negotiator in different ways. This process represents a "back and forth communication designed to reach an agreement when both sides have interests that are shared and others that are opposed" (Fisher & Ury 1981).

Additionally, negotiation can be defined as an interpersonal decision-making process that is necessary when we cannot achieve our objectives (Thompson 1998). This technique accepts seven elements to be considered in order to identify goals, minimise surprises and take advantages of the opportunities

that could arise in negotiation (Shonk 2020). These elements are the following: (1) Interests, (2) Legitimacy, (3) Relationships, (4) Alternative and BATNA (Best Alternative to a Negotiated Agreement), (5) Options, (6) Commitments and (7) Communication (Shonk 2020).

The process of negotiation has been divided into five different types, depending on the negotiator's style of communication and the needs that arise in each situation. Different experiences defined the abilities and skills of the negotiator and their performance in dispute resolution. According to the Thomas Kilmann Conflict Mode Instrument, the negotiation behaviour is divided in the dimension of cooperativeness and assertiveness, including the following styles: competing, collaborating, compromising, accommodating and avoiding, which can vary depending of the type of conflict and the relationships involved.

Principled Negotiation

The principled negotiation refers to conflict management and conflict resolution, giving importance to the interest of all parties involved. This approach represents an integrative way to negotiate and its purpose is to find a "mutually shared outcome", or what could be a response to the idea of "win-win" (Fisher & Ury 1981).

This approach considers a "common sense" process, deciding on the merits of the issues and based on positional bargaining (Fisher, Ury & Patton 1981). The principled method has been designed to provide an effective and harmonious outcome taking into account four principles to be used in any type of dispute: "(1) separate people from the problem, (2) focus on the interests of the parties, (3) generate different options for mutual gain, and (4) base the outcome from a principled negotiation session on objective criteria" (Fisher & Ury 1981).

The principled negotiation aims to achieve a wise agreement that recognises and satisfies both interests and primary needs. In this case, the possibility to modify and improve on the established

hard and soft approach is seen as a better strategy, as it includes a distinctive method to solve an issue that intends to preserve interpersonal relationships.

The guidelines for the principled negotiation are given by the analysis of the problem, the interests of the parties and their perceptions and prevailing options (Fisher & Ury 1981). As a result, the parties involved established the ground rules and work conjointly to reach a collaborative and cooperative solution on which they both agree.

1.7 Conclusion

The dimensions of inner conflict are wide and complex, involving psychological concepts that usually target specific audiences. Accordingly, I have tried to explain it in a suitable way that allows us to comprehend the issue of internal conflicts around protest movements.

Throughout this review, I aimed to show how inner struggle can be based on, or related directly to social and external relationships or realities (Gilbert & Bailey 2000), alongside our social environment. This type of clash exists within every one of us, and the techniques we develop to deal with it will depend on our life experiences and how we respond to our own personal needs.

These life experiences can be determined by how we perceive and feel about our social environment, as well as the way we confront it and understand the groups within. Our personal experiences then become the perception we have on our society, how we see, interact and understand different behaviours (Aronson, Wilson & Akert 2010).

The case of Extinction Rebellion represents a clear example of a social behaviour, and therefore, how activists and protestors are acting in this time, especially in the strategy that is being used to garner attention and support to their cause. Nevertheless, as I mentioned, they are being criticised by some media and political sectors, not only due to the way they express their demands, but the demographic of members that it consists of, leaving others behind or afraid to be part of the movement (BBC 2020).

Using this literature review and the concepts explored above, I seek to analyse areas of Ireland and Europe, as well as Chile and Latin America, and their interpretation of international and national legislation when talking about human rights.

As a preliminary conclusion, I have established that social backgrounds and understanding of community issues are determinants of our ability to express ideas in public and our involvement in mobilisations. Thus, the outcome will always be affected by personal perception and the level of anger we may feel depending on the motive of the protest and the current reality of the country.

CHAPTER 2: METHODOLOGY

2.1 Research Methodology

For this research, I decided to explore further into a challenging methodology that could respond to the necessity of showing different aspects of perceptions and public disruption effects. Based on a qualitative approach, I chose an autoethnographic and self-reflective method to develop an exploration of the self and my internal conflicts related to protests around climate change and other social issues that affect Western Societies.

According to Carolyn Ellis (2004), an autoethnography gives new opportunities to understand and analyse the general exploration of the individual, including social, cultural and political aspects. Researchers that choose this method to develop a study, seek to "connect the autobiographical and personal to the cultural and social by concrete action, emotion, embodiment, self-consciousness, and introspection".

Autoethnography as a methodology is useful to analyse people's lives and context, as well as build on a "differential and autobiographical type of writing, exposing several layers of consciousness that will allow us to create a connection between the personal and the cultural" (Ellis & Bochner 2000). This personal experience is vital in recognising the importance of relating our own selves to specific surroundings; taking into account feelings and identities through introspection enables us to "find meaning and add self-vulnerability to social science research" (Ellis 2004).

2.2 Research Context

In this study, I built upon my experience as a citizen raised in Chile and currently residing in Ireland. I illustrated the personal issues created by social disruption, as well as the infinite questions that arise when we realise how our ideas and support have been distorted by extremist groups, the media and politicians.

I chose the case of Extinction Rebellion since it was a prominent issue at the moment of starting this research. The movement and, by proxy, the dangers of climate change, was a topic in which I discussed in great length within my circle of family and close friends, generating debate, as well as comparing the realities of its effects according to geographical location. Climate change is a social issue that I definitely believe in and I am very aware of the increasing damage caused to the planet. I entered into a process of reflection when analysing the problem, as I agree with the cause; however, I discovered an internal conflict when considering the methods of protest.

It was in this process of reflection that I decided to write introspectively for this study. This reflectivity is directly related to an autoethnographic approach, and has been described as a "critical self-reflection on how the researcher's background, assumptions, positioning and behaviour impact on the research process" (Finlay & Gough 2008).

Furthermore, I started to reflect on how my personal background and ideas could determine my own reactions when facing diverse social conflicts. People in Ireland and mainly Western Societies may consider ideas and actions appropriate, that would be inappropriate in other cultures; even Latin America could manifest a different view, as it is considered by political scientists as a sub-civilization or a separate civilization linked to the West but not totally belonging to it (Samuel Huntington 1991). This autoethnography is constructed using an evocative process, which consists of the exploration and awakening of memories, images, deep meanings and intense feelings (Poulos 2017), focusing on the composition of narrative elements to create an emotional response (Ellis & Bochner 2016). Through this method, I ascertained the need to include not only climate change protests, but mass demonstrations that have taken place in my own country, and affected me both directly and indirectly, as well as cultural and social movements outside of Western Societies.

2.3 Research Method and Design

Grounded in the current social and political context, this journalistic investigation sought to analyse data from early studies, documents and articles. Additionally, through the process of content analysis of public demonstrations and the study of the Extinction Rebellion case, I tried to provide a meaningful experience and social reflection on different social issues.

My autoethnographic study aims to obtain a better cultural understanding of the realities that all of us face with this subject. Moreover, I presented an analysis of how our social backgrounds help to increase or decrease the need to express our thoughts in a public manner.

This reflective approach describes situations and moments as well as emotions, encouraging the consciousness of a self and social being, as well as the examination of opportunities to solve internal issues related to social and cultural matters.

CHAPTER 3: PRESENTATION OF DATA

3.1 The Dilemma

It was around October 2019 when I first heard about Extinction Rebellion. At that time, I remember being aware of the vast increase of environmental movements throughout the world, and also some of their demands. Earlier that year, the Swedish activist Greta Thunberg was voicing her concerns surrounding climate change, later deciding to express them directly to political and public figures. The natural historian and activist Sir David Attenborough also shared the alarm of an imminent destruction of the Earth, proposing some solutions to protect wildlife species and the future of humanity.

I thought it was very admirable, the ability these activists had to push aside selfish matters and commit themselves to a public emergency, raising their voices bravely. Climate change is a real universal problem and the spirit of humanity should be in preserving the home we live. Unfortunately, as human beings we are not conscious of the level of damage we cause to the environment, even unaware of the effect this can have on us directly (Sörqvist & Langeborg 2019).

I have always worried about climate change. I have witnessed the damage in Antarctica and the southern regions of my country where ice is melting, leading to rising sea levels. The consequences have caused masses of alteration to life of underwater ecosystems, as well as fierce floods that jeopardises the lives of communities. Risks of emergencies such as droughts and heat waves have been encouraged by changes in evaporation and precipitation patterns, provoking wildfires and other natural disasters. I have also seen how global warming and fossil fuel companies are facilitating the emission of air contaminants, polluting drinking waters and affecting respiratory and cardiovascular health (Krutsch 2017).

In that regard, I try to contribute to the preservation of the Earth, at least with small actions. I support renewable energy projects and clean alternatives in an attempt to undermine the damage that has been done to the planet. Yet, I recognise that it is not always easy, and sometimes I choose comfort over

sacrifice. It is difficult when we are used to the commodities that technological and commercial advances provide. As Nisa and Bélanger mention in their research *Behavioural Interventions to Promote Household Action on Climate Change* (2019), "information and social comparison are the most common strategies to increase people's engagement for climate change mitigation" (Nisa, Bélanger, Schumpe & Faller 2019). However, these ideas have more impact when "subtle contextual changes rearrange the physical context in which people make choices" (Nisa, Bélanger, Schumpe & Faller 2019). Through these reminders, it would be possible to push to environmental choice that is fitting to the necessities of people. According to their results, people do not modify their behaviours only because they are told to. Contrarily, they need to be seduced to choose a "greener lifestyle", with strong interferences sufficiently convincing to beat the resistance to change comfortable habits (Nisa, Bélanger, Schumpe & Faller 2019).

On the other hand, answering the question of how behaviour can be changed on climate change, a study carried by the University of Massachusetts Amherst, suggests that appealing to ethical responsibility could be successful in engaging awareness and consciousness to the climate warning, as "to reflect in sacrifices made in the past by others for their benefit today, may generate a sense of moral obligation to future generations" (Watkins & Goodwin 2019).

In the context of social issues, I believe that climate change, human rights, injustice, freedom of expression, are all topics that I feel are worth fighting for. Having a journalistic background has helped me understand social issues and assist with the analysis of why they arise and the possible approaches taken. Hence, I believe in the power of mass media, and how the positive or negative connotation in the news will affect social perception and shape public opinion. Agreeing or not, media will always have certain orientation and bias, depending on varying factors, such as ownership of the media outlet, political or ideological posture and the audience that is targeted (Hamborg, Donnay & Gipp 2018). Therefore, the responsibility relapses onto ourselves, and how susceptible we can be to social matters. It is always the hardest, but most honest approach, as media can have an impact on

our personal relationships, mental health and change our opinions, thoughts and future actions (Penn State 2014).

Extinction Rebellion

When I first heard about the Extinction Rebellion movement, I tried to understand its demands and I felt some kind of representation, as it could be my voice and the voice of the world's citizens demanding change and calling for ecological justice. I observed the movement in Dublin where many members reunited in a known park, blocking streets and sharing concerns. It was very interesting to see and listen, a very unique way to disrupt the normality in order to gain social attention.

I was captivated by their commitment to stop climate change and with their strength to continue the fight. I was fascinated when I saw them dancing in the middle of the street: everyone was free, enjoying the companionship of fellow activists and going into an astral travel with their ancestors. It looked like a hippie reunion from the 60's, and I love the 60's era and its psychedelic style. The music was deafening as some of them tried to speak to each other, while the rest were raising their hands and moving their bodies with eyes closed. Flowing feelings and liberational magic herbs all over the place. Some were sharing food, elderly and young, and in general they all looked relaxed in their surroundings.

I walked into the group and observed for a few minutes, the novelty of seeing the backstage of the group that had been blocking the streets over the past few days. At that time, I felt I wanted to see more, experiencing the same sensations, to be free and conscious of our mother Earth. But the thought came to my head in that exact moment: it is not the 60's anymore. Even if I tried to join them, I could not allow my inner self to let go and just appreciate the vibrating music and vibes. It was not the place, the moment, or the time.

Even when I knew that the deafening music and crazy dances was how they spent their time waiting for the next day to head back to the streets, I could not feel comfortable *enjoying* the circumstances. If the cause requires maximum concern and a *battle* against political forces, I did not agree with giving it a break. I did not actually see the reasoning for being in the middle of the street dancing and distancing the "*bad vibes*", when their main objective was to do the opposite. Then, I remembered the relevance of the climate crisis and the positive aspects of the birthing of groups that, like this, do not fear to take social action. Slowly, I questioned every angle and took account of the growing conflict inside myself. One side of me defended the purpose of the movement, the other felt it did not belong.

According to Shim (2018), this sense of belonging is related to social interaction and our "reciprocal reflection regarding who we think we are in these social exchanges". Following this idea, our identities are in constant change and are directly dependent of aspects such as "ethnicity, sexuality, class, gender, occupation, and nationality, generating a feeling of insiderness or outsiderness" (Shim 2018), when relating to social ideologies or philosophies.

The understanding of our environment can be led by social principles, which respond to the idea of common-sense. These social "truths" can guide us to discern accepted or inappropriate behaviours, but can also impact in our personal beliefs (Nichols, Ryan & Yaffe 2016). The common-sense theory, developed by the philosopher Thomas Reid, explains social common ideologies and our basic ability to understand and perceive our environment, affecting the way we see protests and social movement habits and attitudes.

One of my first thoughts was how Extinction Rebellion spent its time waiting for the next day of protest. While they behave in a strident manner with a DJ on stage, in contrast, other movements belonging to poor social sectors or indigenous communities prefer a fairly low-profile approach. My

second thought was whether this was affected by their social status, and therefore, the level of security that Extinction Rebellion members enjoy contrary to that of smaller communities.

Could privilege be involved? Observing the strategies of this movement, such as *mass arrest*, there is a clear proposal to rebel against the system. Nonetheless, instead of engaging supporters, they use threats and "put people at risk of victimisation in order to cause agitation" (Haringey 2018). Imprisonment and criminal records can impact negatively on workers lives, many of them being at risk of losing their jobs and economic stability (Crowther 2019). Furthermore, Extinction Rebellion seems to call for workers to "leave their desk and go out to protest" (Crowther 2019), an option that many cannot afford, which has been seen as a hostile response by members of the movement.

One of the issues regarding how privileged these environmental activists are, is the difficulty of working-class and poor social sectors to follow. In the case of Greta Thunberg, who is not willing to travel by plane as a way to reduce carbon emissions, she decided to board the zero-fossil fuel boat *Malizia II*, to attend the United Nations Climate Action Summit in New York. This action, supported by the Monacan royal Pierre Casiragui, would potentially alienate others keen to fight for the environmental emergency, as she "could demonstrate a practical, imitable solution, but instead, she relied on her celebrity to make a point" (Phelan 2019). Normal citizens could not afford to travel for weeks and pay to cross the Atlantic through sea, a fact that pushes the search to find and display viable alternatives, according to the reality of working-class people.

Later that year, I read about people glueing themselves onto the entrances of key locations in the UK, climbing trains and even an aircraft. At that point I asked myself if I agreed with this type of demonstration, and I could not find an answer. I had conflicting feelings about who to support and my social obligations, as I was willing to make an effort in order to protect the environment and try to reverse the damage, yet, I did not agree with all the strategies and elitist tactics of the movement.

Alongside this, I judged myself and had the feeling that I could be judged by others, as my perception of the group behaviours could potentially be influenced by stereotypes.

In that respect, the research *How Activists and Non-activists Perceive and Evaluate Each Other* (Kutlaca, Van Zomeren & Epstude 2020), proposes that there is often a confrontation between activists and non-activists, as they are seen as complainers and too selfish, respectively. Non-activists and the general public frequently see social activists' actions as "inappropriate, endorsing negative stereotypes" (Kutlaca, Van Zomeren & Epstude 2020), and therefore, it is improbable for them to adopt their behaviours, in order to change the status quo. For one group, the actions are totally inappropriate and for the other, there is a lack of commitment or solidarity to the social cause. This study also proposes that non-activists may feel their participation is not necessary, as well as a disengagement due to unconventional and extreme strategies of the activists. For the general public, activists who communicate "moral motivation for collective action" are perceived in a positive manner. In contrast, those who communicate "instrumental motivation for collective action", are seen as complainers guided by self-interest (Kutlaca, Van Zomeren & Epstude 2020).

From the point of view of *angry drivers* and people ignoring the issue, or in other cases underestimating it, it was crucial to request an end to the nightmare. Clearly, the perception of Extinction Rebellion was that of an extremist, as well as violent, group. However, on the other hand, the negative impact of transport is not something to dismiss, as it creates pollution, harmful particles and carbon dioxide. Yet, it allows trade and communication between people, founding the base for civilization. Then, would it be possible to discard its benefits in order to protect the planet?

In the case of Extinction Rebellion Ireland, the group emerged after a public meeting in Dublin. People from across the country self-named as *rebels*, organised in counties such as Dublin, Cork, Clare, Galway, Kildare, Kerry, Limerick, Derry, Leitrim, and Wexford (O'Sullivan 2019). Since then,

large groups of activists had travelled across the country to join protests, displaying a level of hypocrisy as this would contribute to carbon emissions, through personal or public transportation.

This criticism was in contrast of a series of social norms and rules that established best behaviours in these situations. Classifying Extinction Rebellion as the angry drivers did, meant I was unaware of the importance of preventing climate change. Contrary, supporting the cause meant I should agree with the methods, not expressing any discordance. These norms represent "accepted standards of behaviour and the role we have in society, as well as a way to understand and predict people's performances" (McLeod 2008). The necessity to fit into the model led to a sense of punishment for having contradictory thoughts and beliefs. For years, I have been told by society the way journalists should respond to the idea of *defenders* of the truth, offering support for social causes and approving the strategies entangled in these mobilisations. There is never place for criticism or questioning, as the purpose is to provide a voice to those who cannot have one.

As a sensitive person, I also consider that the best way to manage social conflicts is to commit to and work united as a society, in order to build a better world for this and future generations. I feel the need to act in a positive and collaborative manner, thus, it upset me not being able to respond to a specific subject while being completely certain of my personal beliefs.

Self-awareness

I started to become conscious of my inner self and questioning the motives, strategies, and impact on the lives of others. I drew my attention to my feelings and reactions, attempting to solve what I thought was a simple nuisance. Nevertheless, seeing Extinction Rebellion in action reminded me of the reality of my own country, which in late 2019, faced the worst rebellion since the return to democracy.

Riots, looting, physical attacks, economic loss, and other consequences were all encountered as a result of this *awakening*. People awoke against the injustice and inequality that has affected Chile for

decades. Initially, they opposed the rise of prices on public transport, after suffering a series of assaults to the working class by the governmental system. Students were the first, full of anger and indignation; followed by the entire country entering into a battle against political members that built the existent society.

This chaos led to the expression of feelings, needs and demands that were hidden in plain sight, behind

apparent normality. Therefore, these actions aimed to provoke change and represented the growing desperation built upon many years of grievance. I agreed with the demands, I agreed with the necessity to shout; however, subsequently I feared that the chaos would end in anarchy, and anarchy in destruction. I battled against myself, as I was in a constant state of conflict between fear and support for the cause, and also consumed by the worry of an ungrateful event negatively affecting my family. I was finally aware of my emotions and social perception, struggling with what should be done and the tactics used to get there. In parallel to the Chilean unrest, I was facing Extinction Rebellion spreading across Europe, with entirely contrasting claims, provoking a troublesome consciousness,

Observing the consequences of Extinction Rebellion strategy drew me into a self-reflective process, a process that I was not particularly looking for. I had the dichotomy to fight for a social transformation or simply hide from it. I entered into a dimension where I comprehended intentions and I shared them; yet, I was not able to join and commit to the cause. In theory, I knew about the difficulties of developing certain strategies when participating in social movements and how well they usually work in society, however, in practice, my inner-self argued that this idea was not totally straightforward to take fully into account.

an internal conflict that estranged me from the outer world.

3.2 Limitations

In my 20's I was not completely sure of my professional future. Although, I had deep interests in the process of investigation and primarily in writing, which led me to develop specific skills. With some time, I was able to analyse the reality of my country, its past, present and potential future. While working hard to build an impartial and realistic point of view of the world. Yet, as human beings we cannot be totally unbiased, as social cognition is determined by subjective factors, involving values, standards, expectations and goals within the social environment (Moskowitz 2020). Social perception is based on interpretation, and these interpretations are founded in our own construction of reality. Acknowledging this fact, and that the mass media does not have an unbiased nature, I aimed to be an observer. An observer of my construction of reality and the finest method of its comprehension.

Nonetheless, over time I realised the difficulty of being only an observer and not complying with the need for social change. Protests pursue change in all forms, and in my case, having a journalistic background took me to delay my participation in public manifestations. However, that does not mean I rejected them, but analysed them to the extreme. This circumstance, I believe, is my major flaw as a citizen who is part of a social group. As I acknowledged my need to be part of this society, an inner struggle arose between my beliefs and obligations, as well as my personal needs, recognising the fact that "no individual voice speaks apart from a societal framework of co-constructed meaning and there is a direct and inextricable link between the personal and the cultural" (Wall 2006).

I endeavoured to compress the concept of *personal background* and how this affects our ability to express thought in a communal manner, due to the length of investigation that is required just to show the social, religious and political situations in different continents. As a result, I considered backgrounds accordingly to Ireland and Europe, and Chile and Latin America.

As this is an autoethnographic research, I presented my experiences and emotions as clearly as possible, in an effort to connect with others, relating my experience with cultural aspects (Wall 2006).

The data of this dissertation focuses on the analysis of my inner conflicts, as well as the study of researches of social movements, social perception and climate change behaviours, as a way to compare them with my own observations. I did not pretend to propose a definitive answer to the research question, as the main point of my study is "not to engage systematically, but to engage personally" (Frank 2000). I aimed primarily to give the opportunity to analyse ourselves as human beings and start a discussion about importance of self-consciousness when dealing with social issues.

CHAPTER 4 DATA ANALYSIS

4.1 Introduction

As to provide an autoethnographic study, I worked on the basis of bringing my personal experiences and social background to life to gain social and cultural meaning. Conjointly, I was the primary subject of this research, which seeks to introduce a cultural issue, a reality we all could be facing, but we lack the awareness surrounding the matter.

The autoethnographic approach targets the "reflection and intentional directedness towards others" (Ellis, Holman Jones & Adams 2013), meaning not only the presentation of ideas and personal stories; yet, an understanding of these alongside cultural performance, throughout a process of total vulnerability in order to find a suitable response.

As a way to analyse social perception of climate change protest and other public disruptions, I put my inner-self in the sights to promote consciousness of internal and external conflicts. Also, to find a method or technique that will allow myself, and maybe others, achieve a better comprehension of the issue and to be aware of our needs, without pre-existing prejudices.

4.2 Data Analysis

Throughout this autoethnographic research I delved within myself, in an attempt to understand reasoning behind certain hesitations regarding my support for social causes. My experience dealing with internal conflicts caused by climate change movements is narrated through memory in a self-reflective practice. This reflexivity has been described as a critical personal procedure that determines "how research's background, assumptions, positioning and behaviour impact on the research process" (Finlay & Gough 2008).

I addressed the finding of other researchers, who going through an internal discontent process discovered new ways to understand the framework involved in inner turmoil, related to cross-cultural issues. Wiesner (2020) in his study *Contemplating Reflexivity as a Practice of Authenticity in*

Autoethnographic Research, discusses the importance of analysing the contemporary context of the personal moments of emotional confusion, allowing a detachment of the self in a "timeless perspective". This would enable individuals to clearly acknowledge their own personal turmoil and recognise and uncover perceptions when looking "at particular experiences and events, empowering the self through the use of language, framing and narration to make sense of lived experience" (Wiesner 2020).

Furthermore, as Henrich mentions in her research piece *Towards Integration: An autoethnography on the Development of Identity* (2012), people who often have problems accepting and identifying themselves within society, frequently criticising their own self, are conscious to a major degree of internal discomfort, which needs to be solved. "Self-deprecating patterns expose perfectionistic tendencies" (Henrich 2012), as well as the necessity to fit into the model and meet social standards, which can explain the level of self-conflict existing in some individuals, while other groups tend to ignore their own personal behaviour. To Henrich, the process of self-exploration requires acceptance of ourselves, to "reconcile the seemingly disparate parts of the self in order to formulate an identity". Self-reflectiveness and internal dialogue will lead to the transfer of experiences, allowing the integration of these contrasting personal characteristics, in order to "embrace the authentic self and be a balanced individual" (Henrich 2012).

In that respect, we must understand that inner dialogues are not a rare phenomenon, as it is inherent to individuals to have an "internal monologue from time to time" (Kross et al. 2014). Our internal dialogues assess the manner in which we discuss with ourselves (Oleś, Brinthaupt, Dier & Polak 2020), allowing perspective, comprehension and integration of the internal and external world (Fernyhough 2009). Likewise, an inner speech implicates an affinity between speaking and thinking (Oleś, Brinthaupt, Dier & Polak 2020), introducing a variety of self-talks that can go from an unwinding approach to a more confrontational one.

Our internal conflicts are managed by these dialogues, embodying interpersonal communication and reflection of our identity. These dialogues, illustrate the importance of awareness of the inner-self and consciousness, including "representations of others in one's mind, bonds with significant others, battles for autonomy and controlling of a social mirror" (Oleś, Brinthaupt, Dier & Polak 2020).

Inner conflicts need to be handled in a constructive manner, through processes such as "self-observation, self-awareness, validation of issues, as well as self-acceptance and compassion" (LaFrance & Peter 2015). As, if a trivial or unhealthy assessment of the issue is produced, the inner turmoil could lead to other physical and psychological symptoms, beginning with frustration and stress, and evolving into chronic emotional distress, depression, anxiety, panic and sleeplessness, among other mental health conditions (Bundrant 2018).

The data collected in this study was delivered through introspection, reviving past experiences, as well as analysing social and cultural relationships. These social relationships, have directly influenced my inner turmoil, as mentioned in the presentation of the dilemma, presenting a series of norms and social obligations to be followed, in order to be considered part of a group. According to Foucault's theory, these models of behaviour are related to "techniques of normalisation", with a "structured thought and discourse, that portray categories such as correct-incorrect and desirable-undesirable" (McKinlay & Starkey 1988).

My autoethnography developed a self-observational method granting the approach to personal ideologies, expanded in a way that could be derived into a useful analysis of the community. Community has been identified as a group of others that could be similar, different or opposite to the subject of the research (Chang 2008). In this case, the community represents all three at once, provoking the very conflict of the self.

The method of autoethnography granted an opportunity to uncover insights, conferring "unique perspectives on subjective experiences" (Mackenzie & Kerr 2012). Moreover, this approach provided

valuable and analytical understanding of a social phenomenon, potentially contributing to the lives of others, "reflecting and emphasising with the narrative presented" (Mendez 2013), as a way to become cognisant of a reality that has not been previously analysed.

Analysing the dilemma

Previously, I mentioned that I have always been worried about climate change and its consequences. I can say I am totally conscious of the harm that has been dealt by humans for centuries. For that reason, I was not the one who pointed a finger at the Extinction Rebellion movement accusing them of being a violent and disgraceful group of extremists. I was cautious for the characteristic of the cause, a social cause that requires extreme actions in a world where we are all used to destroying and underestimating the value of nature. However, in this process I stopped myself from being part of the movement. I was confused and stressed, especially due to the lack of sense of representation. In this regard, I found myself seeking social representation, a process of collective "meaning-making" that results in common perceptions or common sense, linking society and individuals and creating ties between them (Höijer 2011).

This reluctance to participate in the movement alluded to the analysis of *chaos theory*, defined as a theory that "enables the description of a series of phenomena concerning the effects of forces or variables in the motion of objects or future outcomes" (Oestreicher 2007). The events that led to my behaviours or confusion were in response to a "deterministic nonlinear trajectory" (Shaboian 2017), in which minor changes to the initial motivations provoked a series of disconformities in my inner self. The tactics of Extinction Rebellion, as well as influence from other variables, such as media coverage, public opinion, my personal background and political ideologies voiced by the movement, affected the final outcome and pushed to feedback (Shaboian 2017) that encompassed the preservation of my initial state as a non-participant in these protests.

Consequently, I wondered if it was possible to support the cause without being an active member of this or other movements. I asked myself, what was the motivation behind the doubt, the inconsistencies between my ideologies and my behaviour. Yet, I only acquired a hurtful questioning that embarrassed me, as I should be committed to these ideas to help generate change, and I should rebel against the political system to fight for a better society.

The fact is that I did not let myself go that day in the park and I would not today. As a matter of justification, I thought that these activists, potentially, did not represent my voice, and perhaps not even the voice of the world's citizens. This reasoning came from the idea that human beings are, above all, individuals; and as individuals, we contribute to society through our personal achievements. Thus, the "values of humanity are not set by the ideas that we share with biological entities, organisms or communities, but which grow from our individual mind" (Von Bertalanffy 1969). In that respect, we owe it to ourselves to follow our personal ideologies ahead of communal ideas.

The internal battle appeared in that moment. My common sense questioned my emotions, derived in some kind of dissatisfaction for my actions related to social demands. Nevertheless, I experienced an internal prejudice due to the characteristics of the protestors: Were they no more than hippies without anything to lose and bored of their lives, or were they really involved in a campaign for a healthier, more sustainable environment?

According to Reid's common-sense theory, these intuitive judgements are part of principles, common notions and self-evident truths, and are not always and not necessarily understood by the individuals. These principles confer emphasis on "empirical justified generalizations from observable data about what people believe and how they behave" (Nichols, Ryan & Yaffe 2016) and the power of individuals as competent judges of social behaviours. The common-sense theory can apply to this on a surface level, but when delving deeper, conflicts can arise between initial impressions and educated information.

This theory can also be applied to the case of the unrest that took place in Chile. I asked myself, if they really are trying to improve the actual system or are they angry enough to destroy it just for the sake of it, without contemplation? This inner conflict grew throughout time, developing an analysis of factors that could influence my beliefs. My perception of the climate change protests and other disruptions could be directly affected by mass media, or by the perception of the groups that live within my close circle. This barrier could be predisposed by my social background and personal ability to express myself in a public manner, as I always tended to step aside and be an observer rather than the centre of attention. Moreover, I could be disappointed by the type of strategies implemented in the process of demanding social change. The recurrent thought of "I would have done things differently" came into my mind, as a way to differentiate myself from other's actions. The answer could be one of these reasons, could be none, or even all of them.

The examination of my inner-self produced some interesting findings: I do not consider myself a person open to outsider influence related to values or beliefs. I trust in my ability to detect assaults to democracy and condemn them, as well as untruth and injustice. That been said, the next step will be to accept that my backgrounds, the preconception that human rights involve protestors as well as non-participative citizens, and finally my construction of reality, will alter my support for, and therefore, participation in public mobilisations that carry out violence or civil disobedience.

I am truly mindful of the purpose of protests and the need to be seen, heard and have an impact on the current reality of a country. If a protest is not disruptive, would it be possible to achieve any change or progress? People who do not share the same interests would argue motives, strategy, and later actions, although, how would it be if they feel the same anger and desperation about another specific social issue?

Nevertheless, my findings convinced me to accept that the mind is directed by feelings and memories. Contradictory reactions are part of being human, and we are not always able to obtain a definitive answer regarding personal and relational issues. It is not always possible to obey both our obligations and preconceptions, as well as our personal needs and emotions caused by these sorts of debates.

For some academics, emotions are the main source of violence and what makes us vulnerable in society, weakening our ability to take decisive action (Kashtan 2015). However, those who are deprived of their emotional capacity, are often unable to decide between different options, as they have lost the mechanism of *decision-making*, a deep and complex process that involves memories from previous experiences and the possible outcomes of each option (Martínez-Selva, Sánchez-Navarro, Bechara & Román 2006). In this cognitive activity, our memory collaborates with analysis, proving that beside the rational aspect, decision-making is derived of feelings from this past personal experience, along with elements related to social contexts and possible consequences (Martínez-Selva, Sánchez-Navarro, Bechara & Román 2006). Hence, the importance of taking into account emotions and personal needs when dealing with social issues, as they can potentially guide us to a likely assertive performance.

As part of my research, I concluded that accepting and being conscious of this dichotomy will provide relief and will respond to my needs. I support causes and I understand motives, even though, I do not always share specific strategies and social actions. I believe in the ideals of respect to human rights and the right to protest, as a positive way to express social demands; I comprehend the anger and its consequences, and I absolutely condemn police brutality as a response to these actions. However, on the other hand, I defend the protection of other's rights, not necessarily involved in mobilisations; as well as the freedom to live in a democratic and safe society.

Considering these facts, my evaluation led me to develop a suitable method to reach an agreement with my inner-self, that allowed me to comply with my personal needs, as well as my emotions and beliefs. In that personal development, I resolved that negotiation is the alternative dispute resolution (ADR) that acts perfectly to achieve my objectives. As I do not have an opposite party to negotiate

with, I applied the principled approach to my internal conflict, considering my interests, the legitimacy of the issue, my possible options, commitments and the communication and acceptance of the self.

As the definition of principled negotiation, I acknowledged the concept of "common sense" and a "win-win outcome", not having to compromise either of my thoughts or principles over another one, but rather letting go the idea of the "should" that represents inner resistance. Becoming conscious of this struggle was the first step to embracing flexibility of the inner-self, providing an effective deal that enables me to be confident in my decisions and subsequent actions.

The internal negotiation within the self, responded to the dialogical self-theory belief, where "oppositions and negotiations are part of a distributed, multivoiced self" (Hermans 2001). Here, we can see a multiplicity of "*I-positions*", internal points of view, and a variety of stories. This dialogical space runs throughout different fields, where "self-negotiations, self-contradictions and self-integrations" offer a great diversity of meaning (Hermans 2001). In order to obtain an integrative outcome, inner negotiation encourages an active and absolute process of internal listening (Nir 2012).

This awareness of the self was part of an honest process where I dealt with a present conflict that I believed inexistent before this dissertation. Commonly, an inner conflict may not qualify as a real issue where different interests are compromised; however, in this instance it was useful to evaluate my particular and contrasting personal points of view. Furthermore, I contemplated the implementation of collaborating behaviour based in the Thomas Kilmann Conflict Mode Instrument, as a way to admit that there is no right and wrong. This style facilitated me to solve my inner turmoil, by accepting and cooperating with the understanding of my principles and emotions. It was not a requirement to be a participant of the movement even though I share and embrace the ideology, I would still have the ability to join if or when I would feel it necessary. This style of self-negotiation facilitated the process of being assertive when questioning my relational behaviours.

CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION

5.1 Extinction Rebellion and Climate Change

As an environmental movement, Extinction Rebellion seeks to be seen and set a precedent on the battle against the threat to the environment through climate change and biodiversity loss. The movement has been criticised by the public since its foundation in 2018 for its radical actions, as well as the alienation of potential supporters. This accusation is based on the engagement of a majority of white and high-class people, and the lack of awareness of the experiences and troubles of others.

One of Extinction Rebellion strategies consists of *mass arrests*, as they will not be prosecuted due to the incapability of police and courts in pursuing large numbers of cases at the same time (Hensby 2019). Considering this fact, it would be convenient for a specific social group of people to be part of the movement, as many of them are assured by their lack of vulnerability and how the governmental system would not be able to infringe on their human rights.

Other people, simply hesitate when joining civil disobedience movements, as they belong to a vulnerable part of society, who have been, and still are marginalised and constantly prosecuted due to the colour of their skin, religion, social class, etc. (BBC 2020). Others, are not willing to follow Extinction Rebellion ideas for a simpler reason: their acts do not represent their thoughts, as they believe there should be a suitable, reasonable way to obtain an ecological agreement (BBC 2020).

One of the later strategies of the movement, aiming to catch attention from a political point of view, influenced my level of hesitation to support the group, as it embodies a legitimisation of extreme and disengaged ideas. By presenting political statements, the movement appears to blame a certain part of society, often marginalised, for the climate warning, instead of offering an equitable and sustainable solution, as other environmental activists have proposed.

In this context, I found myself thinking that I should not feel embarrassed for not going to the streets to fight for a clean environment. Additionally, I am currently residing in Ireland, a country that has

its own rules and where, as with many others, I am an immigrant. I am not vulnerable for the previously mentioned reasons, yet, I definitely lack the sense of security that Irish citizens would have. With the same unease applying to the rest of Europe.

5.2 Human rights

Although, in its Universal Declaration of Human Rights the United Nations stated the protection of personal rights and liberties, which included the freedom of expression and assembly; every nation has its own constitution. As the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights mentioned: "free humans enjoying political freedom can only be achieved if conditions are created where everyone can enjoy civil, political, economic, social and cultural rights" (ICCPR).

This statement concludes to us, that individuals are social beings and even when they have the right to assembly and freedom of speech, responsibility and social duties are needed. As well as the latter, these human rights carry with them certain restrictions that would be expressed by laws in each territory, aiming towards the protection of national security and public order, respect for other's rights, and the preservation of public health and morals.

The previous declaration specifies the duties and rights of citizens in a democratic society, which is the reason why in this study I excluded certain areas of Africa and Asia that do not have a democratic regime. Contrary to this, democratic societies have implemented governmental schemes that balance the protection of human rights and the restrictions to public acts that affect social stability.

Nevertheless, we have seen the impact of these restrictions across the world. Police repression has been seen in countries like Chile with the *social unrest* and in the United States with the *Black Lives Matter* protests. The latter being supported by thousands of protestors in different countries across the world. In each of these countries, demonstrators have themselves been victims of extreme violence and violations of human rights, which led to a fierce response from the people in the streets, whom needed to defend themselves or shout against injustice and racism.

Frequently, mobilisations are not convenient for authorities, as they feel they are threatened by societies who are claiming for the preservation of their rights. The answer tends to always be the same: repression. Usually the most affected are the weaker, elderly people or even children who are part of the assembly. Those who decide for a more peaceful strategy to protest are not always safer, as there are often camouflaged insurgent groups who incite violence provoking a retaliation from police forces. The alternative phenomenon, is the unwarranted hostile response from authorities to peaceful movements due to the fear of losing control over citizens and social matters.

However, to achieve their purpose, protests need to obtain attention from the general public and this is acquired through civil disobedience and often more aggressive strategies. In other cases, the current situation must be carefully studied, as a movement such as *Black Lives Matters* would not have the support and visibility it has today if its tactics were not disruptive. This movement began in 2013 due to the assassination of two African American by police action, following their return in 2020 after the George Floyd murder in hands of a police officer. These acts, among others, justify and rationalise the distrust existing in African American communities when dealing with police forces on a daily basis or during mobilisations.

With this social background, the protest can change its status and carry out a reactive behaviour to defend what they believe can be taken away from them, such as their human dignity and even their own lives. In Chile, years of dictatorship ignited severe anger against institutions and the disbelief of the government's affairs, police and military departments. As a result, Chileans answered with powerful public manifestations to demand better life conditions, involving civil disobedience, vigils, and violence. What followed, reflected the antagonism of society confronting police powers, and the destruction of the national order.

In cases like this, the restrictions to public demonstrations can lead to a "misunderstanding of civil rights, widespread violence and violation to the physical integrity and personal liberty" (IACHR

2009). Human rights can be easily forgotten in order to maintain national security, respecting other people's freedom; contrarily, in non-convenient and civil-disobedient demonstrations, the concept of national security or public order seems to be a mere excuse to practice physical abuse against protestors.

As a society, we need to take into account the value of human rights on both sides: those who are involved in protests and those who are not. Thus, it is primarily necessary to analyse the context that leads to these actions, and the background of the current mobilisation and its participants, considering that human liberties are based on "dignity, equality and mutual respect, regarding age, nationality, gender, race, belief and personal orientations (Amnesty International 2017).

5.3 Social Perception

An attractive phenomenon needs to enhance civil engagement, include novelty, proximity, conflict, emotion, prominence and consequences. The exposure of the specific event is required to attained the support of the population and gather visibility of the social issue. With no exposure, there is no issue, therefore, less capability to influence social opinion and achieve communal goals.

The participants of the protests aim for a united cause, calling for a transformation that will affect decisions and the lives of citizens. In this context, their beliefs are motivated by public interests and presented in a disruptive manner that can lead to differing reactions from authorities and general society. Even when violent tactics could "destabilise the legitimacy" (Wang & Piazza 2016) of the movement, protestors are often guided by these type of disruptions as to accomplish the break in normality. If the group enjoys the engagement of a decent number of citizens, the next stage is to develop an effective strategy to advertise it, not necessarily one that involves new and fresh supporters.

Insubordination has been the most common strategy in recent years, with demonstrators speaking out to condemn social abuse and marginalisation. Additionally, specific groups of people have taken part

in riots and looting, as a way to put more pressure on authorities and high socio-economic members of society.

In the case of Extinction Rebellion, tactics have been different and social perception has suffered variation over time. I concluded that mass media has settled on a new coverage strategy for this and other mobilisations across the world, based mainly on the lack of context and social background. With the growth of social media, citizens are able to obtain details and motives behind the movements; however, in some situations they can drive to a hate culture and ill-informed construction of reality.

My understanding of Extinction Rebellion demands and the case of Chile in contrast, has been built on life experiences, what I have seen, read and heard, a perception that could change according to what I receive from external sources, by a specific circumstance or by emotions recalled from past events.

Regarding the Extinction Rebellion case, I realised that my perception maintained some resemblance to the unrest in Chile. Two contrasting realities, yet, similar issues. I agreed with the motives of Extinction Rebellion as I agreed with the *awakening* of the Chilean people. I lived and experienced injustice and inequality, feeling the same anger and frustrations as the protestors. Now, I was experiencing the indolence of political members regarding climate change.

Nonetheless, there were some differences, especially in my perception of the two. In one, I was not present, however, my family was living in the middle of the chaos, which led them to have a particular perception of the Chilean unrest, therefore, altering my own perception. The actions of protestors divided the country and questioned the level of violence that was being applied by both the police and demonstrators, in order to maintain national security or, in the other case, obtain a social agreement.

The level of violence displayed by Extinction Rebellion was clearly minor; yet, it carried pretentious strategies, ignoring the rights of others. Extinction Rebellion implemented civil disobedience and extreme actions, leading to the hesitation of public voicing their support. However, this case reveals a crucial interrogation: is inequality and injustice socially accepted as a meaningful reason to protest, while climate change does not have an immediate effect on people's lives, therefore, these public demonstrations are not considered critical?

Personally, I believe that both display the same amount of concern. Although, I believe anger is ingrained in working-class or marginalised people more so than high-status members. Thus, provoking a more violent approach when dealing with personal grievance. On the other hand, working-class people often do not participate actively in specific movements due to the feeling of having more to lose than the *privileged* ones.

In a sense of dealing with internal discomfort, I have confidence that public movements are necessary to generate impact and be the voice of those who cannot speak due to various attachments and personal conflicts. I also admit that tactics can be discussed in any protest, in any part of the world. Nevertheless, the respect of human rights must be crucial, granting liberties to those who demand social transformation and those who aim to live in a safe and undisrupted society.

Conclusion

Throughout this autoethnography, I developed a profound examination of the variables that can influence our participation in social movements, and the turmoil that arises within ourselves in the process. I proposed an alternate perspective to the analysis of social issues, promoting awareness and the notion of the struggles that we confront as individuals regarding public disruptions.

The autoethnographic approach enabled me to present the relationship between a controversial social and cultural phenomenon, and my personal experiences collected through a deep process of self-reflectiveness. I questioned my ideologies, behaviours, feelings and perceptions, as a means to encourage a consciousness of the self, as we are not always aware of the value of our contradictions, beyond established preconceptions and judgements.

As I previously mentioned, we seek social representation and to respond to the need of belonging, to certain social groups, sharing an idea of *common-sense* and creating ties and links between ourselves and the world (Höijer 2011). Nevertheless, it is crucial to remember that above all, we are individual beings. The ideas of nations and humanity are not born from a society as a whole, but from personal achievements and the growth of the individual mind (Von Bertalanffy 1969). Knowing this, will be entirely up to us to decide the meaning we assign to our lives and the role we wish to fulfil in society. Beyond Reid's common-sense theory, that tries to explain intuitive judgements, ideologies and generalisations of social behaviours (Nichols, Ryan & Yaffe 2016), as individuals we constantly deal with a series of positive and negative internal emotions. These are determined by our personal backgrounds, including family views, geographic location or the way we construct reality and build perception.

Considering this, we give significant importance to the study of social backgrounds and how they affect our personality and behaviour. If we accept what common-sense tells us, yet, our internal emotions say the opposite, the solution should not be to supress feelings or identities, as they are vital

in the process of relating ourselves to our surroundings, as well as the key to find social meaning (Ellis 2004).

Although, emotions can be considered a dangerous weapon when deciding in a social environment, the investigation displayed a different view, as it is through emotions that we are able to be a part of the decision-making process (Martínez-Selva, Sánchez-Navarro, Bechara & Román 2006). We all retain memories from past experiences that allow us to examine possible outcomes and, therefore, enable us to agree with an assertive performance.

These experiences are linked to our perception, explained as the way we perceived our environment, and how we feel and understand social groups and their actions (Aronson, Wilson & Akert 2010). This refers to the construction of reality and the judgements we make around the characteristics of social movements, people involved, and motivations. According to our personal backgrounds, we recognise the level of representation and understanding of a disruptive protest, as well as the anger we may feel, related to a specific community issue. The reality of the country we were born or reside can affect the way we see the protest, and the situations we are used to living in or dealing with will determine our commitment, participation or ability to join social movements. Additionally, this personal reality will influence our feelings and comprehension of the strategies of the protestors. Our race, social class, gender and other factors will also be considered when deciding our best personal and social outcome.

As a journalistic investigation, as well as an autoethnographic piece, my research was focused on social matters, such as human rights, the case of Extinction Rebellion, and social perception, but with emphasis on the development of opposing ideas within the self. Contradictory thoughts, interests and needs can open the door to internal turmoil, that could lead to other physical and psychological symptoms, growing emotional distress, anxiety, depression and other conditions (Bundrant 2018).

This is why I decided to go forward with the self-observational process and share my private inner-battle, as to be honest with myself, both internally and externally. In that sense, disruptive protests can detonate diverse emotions, that we allow to manifest and analyse, in order to validate the issue. Throughout this dissertation, I offered a different point of view that facilitated the awareness of the self and overall, personal acceptance. I attempted to inspire others to discover themselves and their needs in the world we belong and to relate to my confidences.

As individuals, we must discover our inner self and listen to our internal dialogues. As Hermans (2001) mentioned in his dialogical-self theory, "self-negotiations, self-contradictions and self-integrations" are existents in every human being, therefore, oppositions, multivoiced self and a variety of meanings are recognised as a valid process. If we listen our inner voice, we can learn to comprehend ourselves and, contrary to what we were told to believe, this self-vulnerability of introspection (Ellis 2004) allows us to connect to the exterior, accepting the bond between self-conflict and social environment (Gilbert & Bailey 2000). Remaining aware of our inner-self will encourage us to not take an adversarial position, but a flexible one, negotiating with ourselves, in order to be assertive in the process of communication and acknowledgment.

My autoethnography offers an agreement between social perception and personal needs, conferring value to emotions in the decision-making process, as well as complying with beliefs and commitments. Overall, this research achieved the evaluation of a suitable alternative dispute resolution when facing internal conflict, emphasising awareness of ourselves as social and individuals, and the acceptance of the self as a life priority.

Reflection

Reflecting on the process of this dissertation, I am satisfied with my progress when working with an autoethnographic approach. This method was completely new to me, however, I quickly realised that it was extremely appropriate for the type of research I strived to develop. I have always been absorbed by the analysis of social perception and the study of social phenomenon. Thus, I was hoping to have the opportunity to delve into this subject in this academic piece, moving beyond the idea of presenting a standard paper with only the legal aspects of alternative dispute resolution.

Through this long road of investigation, I could give an insight into the depth of my personal turmoil, and relate it to such a provocative and immediate social issue. The literature review facilitated my process of understanding different realities and theories that surround human behaviours, as the analysis of the data and the discussion gave me the strength to question and be aware of all the factors involved.

This journey enabled me to collect valuable information, and above all, be conscious of myself and my needs. We live in a world that changes so quickly, in which we are awfully critical and judgemental to others, and in some cases tremendously erratic when dealing with feelings and emotions. This world is failing to remember the importance of analytical thinking and the significance of taking into account our stories and memories to accept us as individuals.

I am pleased with the mental and emotional work that I dedicated to this study, and the new point of view that I acquired, allowing me to apply dispute resolution methods to an internal process of conflict. My research piece, that I carried out with curiosity, care and commitment, embodies a process of internal healing and personal discovery. I deeply hope that my experience, which I tried to present as honest as possible, could help others that seek self-consciousness, and work every day to improve as human beings to build a better world.

Bibliography

- Amnesty International website, *Learning about our Human Rights*, viewed August 2020 https://www.amnesty.org/download/Documents/POL3269512017ENGLISH.PDF
- Amnesty International 2020, Article *Chile 2019*, viewed September 2020 https://www.amnesty.org/en/countries/americas/chile/report-chile/
- Aronson, E., Wilson, T. & Akert, R. 2010, *Social Psychology Seventh Edition*, Pearson Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River.
- Banks, J. 2003, Teaching strategies for ethnic studies Seventh Edition, Allyn and Bacon, Boston.
- Bell, K. 2019, A working-class green movement is out there but not getting the credit it deserves,

 The Guardian, viewed September 2020

 https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/oct/11/a-working-class-green-movement-is-out-there-but-not-getting-the-credit-it-deserves
- Brown, J. 2020, *Police powers: policing protests*, Research Briefing, House of Commons Library, UK Parliament, viewed September 2020 https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn05013/
- Brownlee, K. 2017, *Civil Disobedience*, The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy, Edward N. Zalta (ed.), viewed October 2020 https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/fall2017/entries/civil-disobedience/
- Bundrant, M. 2018, Why Inner Conflict Is Your Most Important Issue, Thrive Global Magazine, viewed October 2020 https://thriveglobal.com/stories/why-inner-conflict-is-your-most-important-issue-plus-three-steps-to-resolution/

- Busby, M. 2019, Extinction Rebellion protesters spray fake blood on to Treasury, The Guardian, viewed September 2020 https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/oct/03/extinction-rebellion-protesters-spray-fake-blood-treasury-london
- Carothers, T. & Youngs R., 2015, *The Complexities of Global Protests*, Carnegie: Endowment for International Peace, viewed September 2020

 https://carnegieendowment.org/2015/10/08/complexities-of-global-protests-pub-61537
- Citizens Information Ireland 2020, Charter of Fundamental Rights, viewed September 2020

 https://www.citizensinformation.ie/en/government_in_ireland/european_government/eu_law
 /charter_of_fundamental_rights.html#l3aeb8
- Cleary, E. 1997, The struggle for Human Rights in Latin America, Praeger, Westport.
- Constitution of Ireland 1937, viewed September 2020 http://www.irishstatutebook.ie/eli/cons/en#part13
- Constitución Política República de Chile 1980, Updated 2005. Final upgrade 2010, viewed September 2020 https://www.oas.org/dil/esp/constitucion_chile.pdf
- Corte Interamericana de Derechos Humanos 2020, viewed September 2020 https://www.corteidh.or.cr/que_es_la_corte.cfm
- Council of Europe website, viewed September 2020 https://www.coe.int/en/web/impact-convention-human-rights/freedom-of-assembly
- Crowther, M. 2019, Extinction Rebellion protests and employment law, Wrigley Solicitors, viewed October 2020, https://www.wrigleys.co.uk/news/employment-hr/extinction-rebellion-protests-and-employment-law/
- Ellis, C. & Bochner, A. 2000, Autoethnography, personal narrative and reflexivity. Researcher as subject, Sage, Thousand Oaks.

- Ellis, C. 2004, *The ethnographic I: A methodological novel about autoethnography*, Altamira Press, Walnut Creek.
- Ellis, C. & Bochner, A. 2004, *Building Connections in Qualitative Research*, Carolyn Ellis and Art Bochner in Conversation with Stacy Holman Jones, viewed August 2020 https://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/fqs/article/view/552/1194
- Ellis, C., Adams, T. & Bochner, A. 2011, *Autoethnography: an overview*. Historical Social Research, Verlag/Springer, Wiesbaden.
- Ellis, C., Holman Jones, S. & T. Adams 2013, *Handbook of Autoethnography*, Routledge, New York.
- Ellis, C. & Bochner, A. 2016, *Evocative Autoethnography: Writing Lives and Telling Stories*.

 Routledge, New York.
- European Convention on Human Rights website, viewed September 2020 www.echr.coe.int
- Extinction Rebellion UK website, *About Us*, viewed August 2020, https://rebellion.earth/the-truth/about-us/
- Extinction Rebellion Global website, *About Us, Our Demands, our Values, Our Story*, viewed August 2020 https://rebellion.global/about-us/
- Farand, C. 2018, *Extinction Rebellion eyes global campaign*, The Ecologist: Journal for the Post-Industrial Age, viewed September 2020 https://theecologist.org/2018/nov/23/extinction-rebellion-eyes-global-campaign
- Feinberg, M., Willer, R. & Kovacheff, C. 2017, Extreme Protest Tactics Reduce Popular Support for Social Movements. Rotman School of Management, University of Toronto, Canada.

 Working Paper No. 2911177 https://ssrn.com/abstract=2911177

- Fernyhough C. 2009, "Dialogic thinking," in Private Speech, Executive Functioning, and the Development of Verbal Self-Regulation, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Finlay, L. & Gough, B. 2008, *Reflexivity: A practical guide for researchers in health and social sciences*, John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken.
- Fisher, R. & Ury, W. 1981, *Getting to Yes: Negotiating Agreement Without Giving In*, Penguin Group, London.
- Frank, A. 2000, *The Standpoint of Storyteller*, Article in Qualitative Health Research, viewed

 October 2020

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/12372353_The_Standpoint_of_Storyteller
- Free Word Centre website 2016, *The Right to Protest: Principles on the protection of human rights*in protests, viewed August 2020

 https://www.article19.org/data/files/medialibrary/38581/Right_to_protest_principles_final.p

 df
- Gayle, D. 2019, *Does Extinction Rebellion have a race problem?* The Guardian, viewed September 2020 https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/oct/04/extinction-rebellion-race-climate-crisis-inequality
- Garavito, T. & Thanki, N. 2019 Stop Asking People of Colour to Get Arrested to Protest Climate

 Change, Vice Media Group, viewed October 2020

 https://www.vice.com/en/article/mbm3q4/extinction-rebellion-xr-is-shaped-by-middle-class-white-people-it-does-not-serve-people-of-color
- Gilbert, P. & Bailey, K. 2000, Genes on the Couch: Explorations in Evolutionary Psychotherapy, Routledge, East Sussex.

- Hamborg, F., Donnay, K. & Gipp, B. 2018, *Automated identification of media bias in news articles:*an interdisciplinary literature review, International Journal on Digital Libraries, viewed
 October 2020 https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00799-018-0261-y
- Haringey B. 2018, *Letter: The politics of "Extinction Rebellion"*, Workers' Liberty: Reason in Revolt, viewed October 2020, https://www.workersliberty.org/story/2018-11-13/letter-politics-extinction-rebellion
- Harvard Negotiation Project 2018, Harvard Law School, viewed July 2020

 https://www.pon.harvard.edu/research_projects/harvard-negotiation-project/hnp/
- Henrich, K. 2012, *Towards Integration: An Autoethnography on the Development of Identity*, Creative Arts Therapies Theses. Paper 36, Columbia College Chicago.
- Hensby, A. 2019, Extinction Rebellion: disruption and arrests can bring social change, The Conversation, viewed September 2020 https://theconversation.com/extinction-rebellion-disruption-and-arrests-can-bring-social-change-115741
- Hermans, H. 2001, *The Dialogical Self: Toward a Theory of Personal and Cultural Positioning*,

 Article in Culture & Psychology, viewed September 2020

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/228913307
- Höijer, B. 2011, *Social Representations Theory: New Theory for Media Research*, Nordicom Review, De Gruyter, Warsaw.
- Huntington, S. 1991, Clash of Civilizations (6th ed.), World of Books Ltd., West Sussex.
- Institute for Democracy and Electoral Assistance website 2016, International IDEA supporting democracy worldwide, viewed September 2020 https://www.idea.int/

- Inter American Commission on Human Rights website 2006, viewed September 2020 http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/
- Inter-American Commission on Human Rights 2009/2011, Report on Citizen Security and Human Rights, OEA/Ser.L/V/II. Doc. 57, viewed September 2020

 https://www.cidh.oas.org/countryrep/Seguridad.eng/CitizenSecurity.Toc.htm Second Report on the Situation of Human Rights Defenders in the Americas, OEA/Ser.L/V/II. Doc. 66, viewed September 2020

 https://www.oas.org/en/iachr/defenders/docs/pdf/defenders2011.pdf
- International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights website, viewed September 2020, https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/ccpr.aspx
- Iqbal, N. 2019, Extinction Rebellion kick off weekend of protest with Dalston blockade, The Guardian, viewed August 2020 https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/jul/13/extinction-rebellion-kick-off-weekend-of-protest-with-dalston-blockade
- Iqbal, N. 2019, *How Extinction Rebellion put the world on red alert*, The Guardian, viewed August 2020 https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/oct/06/how-extinction-rebellion-putworld-on-red-alert-year-since-it-was-founded
- Irish Human Rights Commission 2011, *The Advice of the Joint Committee on a Charter of Rights*for the Island of Ireland, Irish Human Rights and Equality Commission (IHREC), viewed

 September 2020 https://www.ihrec.ie/documents/charter-of-rights-advice-june-2011/
- Jussim, L. 1991, Social perception and social reality: A reflection-construction model.

 Psychological Review, Vol 98(1), viewed September 2020

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/232606503_Social_Perception_and_Social_Reality_A_Reflection-Construction_Model

- Kamans, E., Otten, S. & Gordijn E. 2011, Threat and power in intergroup conflict: How threat determines emotional and behavioural reactions in powerless group: Group Processes and Intergroup Relations, Sage, Newcastle.
- Kaoma, M. 2020, *In defence of the (non-violent) disruptive protest: an open letter*, The Law Society Gazette, viewed September 2020 https://www.lawgazette.co.uk/commentary-and-opinion/in-defence-of-the-non-violent-disruptive-protest-an-open-letter/5104551.article
- Kashtan, M. 2015, *Attending to Inner Conflict*, Psychology Today, viewed September 2020 https://www.psychologytoday.com/ie/blog/acquired-spontaneity/201510/attending-inner-conflict
- Knights, S. in Extinction Rebellion Handbook 2019, *This Is Not A Drill: An Extinction Rebellion Handbook*, Penguin Books Ltd, London.
- Kross, E., Bruehlman-Senecal, E., Burson, A., Dougherty, A., Shablack, H., Bremner, R., Moser, J., Ayduk, O. & Park, J. 2014, *Self-talk as a regulatory mechanism: how you do it matters*, Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, Vol. 106, No. 2, viewed October 2020 https://rascl.berkeley.edu/assets/files/self-talk_as_a_regulatory_mechanism_how_you_do_it_matters.pdf
- Krutsch, E. 2017, *Climate Change and Respiratory Health*, Respiratory Health Association, viewed October 2020, https://resphealth.org/news/library/climate-change-respiratory-health/
- Kutlaca, M., Van Zomeren, M., & Epstude, K. 2020, Friends or foes? How activists and non-activists perceive and evaluate each other. Research Article Plos one, 15(4), e0230918, viewed October 2020, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0230918
- LaFrance, C. & Peter, J. 2015, *Treating Nonepileptic Seizures: Therapist Guide*, Oxford University Press, Oxford.

- Lo Dico, J. 2019, Why is Extinction Rebellion targeting the working class? UnHerd, viewed

 October 2020 https://unherd.com/2019/10/can-extinction-rebellion-raise-a-working-class-army/
- Mackenzie, S. & Kerr, J. 2012, A (mis)guided adventure tourism experience: An autoethnographic analysis of mountaineering in Bolivia, Journal of Sport & Tourism, 17:2, 125-144, DOI: 10.1080/14775085.2012.729901
- Martínez-Selva, J.M., Sánchez-Navarro, J.P., Bechara, A. & Román, F. 2006, *Brain mechanisms*involved in decision making, Review in Neuroscience, viewed October 2020

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/7177888_Brain_mechanisms_involved_in_decisio
 n-making
- McCallister, J. 2019, *Internal Conflict: Definition, Types & Example*, Psychology Courses viewed August 2020 https://study.com/academy/lesson/internal-conflict-definition-typesexample.html
- McLeod, S. 2008, *Social Roles*, Simply Psychology, viewed October 2020 https://www.simplypsychology.org/social-roles.html
- McKinlay, A. & Starkey, K. 1998, Foucault, Management and Organization Theory, Sage Publications, London.
- Mendez, M. 2013, *Autoethnography as a research method: Advantages, limitations and criticisms*, Colombian Applied Linguistics Journal, Universidad de Quintana Roo, viewed September 20200 http://www.scielo.org.co/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0123-46412013000200010
- Moskowitz, G. 2020, *Are we all inherently biased?* Lehigh University USA, viewed October 2020 https://www1.lehigh.edu/research/consequence/are-we-all-inherently-biased

- Murray, D. 2019, *The empty lives of Extinction Rebellion fanatics*, UnHerd, viewed September 2020 https://unherd.com/2019/10/extinction-rebellion-fanatics-have-empty-lives/
- Nandy, L., Yes, we need climate action, but it needs to be root0ed in people's daily reality, Hope not Hate Magazine, viewed August 2020

 https://www.hopenothate.org.uk/magazine/climate-change-far-right/yes-we-need-climate-action-but-it-needs-to-be-rooted-in-peoples-daily-reality/
- National Centre for Atmospheric Science website, Natural Environment Research Council, viewed

 June 2020 https://www.ncas.ac.uk/en/
- Nichols, R. & Yaffe, G. 2016, *Thomas Reid*, The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy (Winter 2016 Edition), Edward N. Zalta (ed.), https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/win2016/entries/reid/
- Nir, D. 2012, *Voicing inner conflict: From a dialogical to a negotiational self,* In H. J. M. Hermans & T. Gieser (Eds.), Handbook of dialogical self-theory, Cambridge University Press,

 Cambridge.
- Nisa, C. & Bélanger, J., Schumpe B. & Faller D. 2019, Meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials testing behavioural interventions to promote household action on climate change, Nat Commun 10, 4545, viewed October 2020, https://www.nature.com/articles/s41467-019-12457-2
- Novgorodtseva, A. 2006, *Inner conflicts in adolescence. Cultural-Historical Psychology*, Vol. 2, No. 5 (In Russ., abstr. in Engl.), Cultural-Historical Psychology, viewed September 2020 https://psyjournals.ru/en/kip/2006/n5/Novgorodtseva.shtml
- O'Donnell, C. 2020, No Justice, No Peace: Disruptive Tactics and the Success of the Black Lives

 Matter Movement, McGill Journal of Political Studies, viewed August 2020

- https://mjps.ssmu.ca/2020/06/23/no-justice-no-peace-disruptive-tactics-and-the-success-of-the-black-lives-matter-movement/
- Oleś, P., Brinthaupt, M., Dier, R. & Polak, D. 2020, *Types of Inner Dialogues and Functions of Self-Talk: Comparisons and Implications*, Frontiers in Psychology, US National Library of Medicine National Institutes of Health, viewed October 2020

 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7067977/
- Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights website, South American

 Regional Office, United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner, viewed

 September 2020

 https://www.ohchr.org/EN/Countries/LacRegion/Pages/LatinAmericaSummary.aspx
- Oestreicher, C. 2007, *A history of chaos theory*, Dialogues in clinical neuroscience, US National Library of Medicine National Institutes of Health, viewed October 2020 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3202497/
- O'Sullivan, K. 2019, Who are Extinction Rebellion? And what do they want? The Irish Times, viewed October 2020, https://www.irishtimes.com/news/environment/who-are-extinction-rebellion-and-what-do-they-want-1.4042581
- Our own thoughts VS. Media Influence 2014, Applied Social Psychology (ASP), viewed October 2020, https://sites.psu.edu/aspsy/2014/10/26/our-own-thoughts-vs-media-influence/
- Phelan, K. 2019, *Greta Thunberg's voyage is admirable but not practical*, The Irish Times, viewed October 2020, https://www.irishtimes.com/opinion/greta-thunberg-s-voyage-is-admirable-but-not-practical-1.3992104
- Poulos, C. 2017, *Evocative Writing*, University of North Carolina at Greensboro, USA, viewed October 2020 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/320928283 Evocative Writing

- Ratliff, T. & Hall, L. 2014, *Practicing the Art of Dissent: Toward a Typology of Protest Activity in the United States*, Humanity & Science, viewed September 2020

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/261949870_Practicing_the_Art_of_Dissent_Toward_a_Typology_of_Protest_Activity_in_the_United_States
- Singh, G. 2019, Extinction Rebellion needs more working class and people of colour voices, Fair Planet Organisation, viewed October 2020 https://www.fairplanet.org/editors-pick/extinction-rebellion-needs-more-working-class-and-poc-voices/
- Shaboian, I. 2017, *Mathematics Meets Politics: On the Application of Chaos Theory to Politics*,

 NATO Association of Canada, viewed October 2020 http://natoassociation.ca/mathematics-meets-politics-on-the-application-of-chaos-theory-to-politics/
- Shim, J. 2018, *Problematic Autoethnographic Research: Researcher's Failure in Positioning*, The Qualitative Report, 23(1), 1-11, viewed October 2020, https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol23/iss1/1
- Shonk, K., What is Negotiation? Learn the building blocks of indispensable negotiation business skills, Program on Negotiation Harvard Law School Daily Blog, viewed June 2020 https://www.pon.harvard.edu/daily/negotiation-skills-daily/what-is-negotiation/
- Sörqvist, P. & Langeborg, L. 2019, Article Why People Harm the Environment Although They Try to Treat It Well: An Evolutionary-Cognitive Perspective on Climate Compensation,

 Frontiers in Psychology, viewed October 2020

 https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00348/full
- Stanford University project 2009, *Dynamics of Collective Action*, viewed September 2020 https://web.stanford.edu/group/collectiveaction/cgi-bin/drupal/node/21
- Thompson, L. 1998, *The Mind and Heart of the Negotiator*, Pearson, London.

- Ulrich, B. 2016, *The metamorphosis of the world: How Climate Change is Transforming Our Concept of the World*, Polity, Cambridge.
- United Nations website, *The Universal Declaration of Human Rights 1948*https://www.ohchr.org/EN/UDHR/Documents/UDHR_Translations/eng.pdf
- Van Stekelenburg, J. & Klandermans, B. 2013, *The Social Psychology of Protest*, Current Sociology Review, VU University Amsterdam, Sage Publications https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0011392113479314
- Von Bertalanffy, L. 1969, *General System Theory: Foundations, Development, Applications*, University of Alberta Edmonton, Canada, George Braziller, Inc., New York.
- Wall, S. 2006, *An autoethnography on learning about autoethnography*, Department of Sociology,
 University of Alberta Edmonton, Canada, International Journal of Qualitative Methods,
 5(2), Article 9. Viewed August 2020,
 http://www.ualberta.ca/~iiqm/backissues/5_2/pdf/wall.pdf
- Wall, S. 2008, Article Easier Said than Done: Writing an Autoethnography, Department of Sociology, University of Alberta Edmonton, Canada, International Journal of Qualitative Methods, viewed August 2020 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/265874537_Easier_Said_than_Done_Writing_an_Autoethnography
- Wang, D. & Piazza, A. 2016, The Use of Disruptive Tactics in Protest as a Trade-Off: The Role of Social Movement Claims, Social Forces Vol. 94, Issue 4, viewed September 2020 http://www.jstor.org/stable/24754290
- Watkins, H. & Goodwin, G. 2019, Reflecting on Sacrifices Made by Past Generations Increases a Sense of Obligation Towards Future Generations. Personality and Social Psychology

- Bulletin, viewed October 2020, https://www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2019/11/191120121145.htm
- Wiesner, A. 2020, Contemplating Reflexivity as a Practice of Authenticity in Autoethnographic Research, The Qualitative Report, 25(3), 662-670, viewed October 2020, https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol25/iss3/7
- Welsh, T. 2019, We've had quite enough of the law-breaking environmental fanatics of Extinction Rebellion, The Telegraph, viewed September 2020

 https://www.telegraph.co.uk/climate/2019/06/02/had-quite-enough-law-breaking-environmental-fanatics-extinction/
- Yocco, V. 2018, *Dwelling on The Past: The Importance of Self Reflection*, Smashing Magazine, viewed October 2020 https://www.smashingmagazine.com/2018/01/importance-self-reflection-part-2/